
1

Contact Officer:
Maureen Potter  01352 702322
maureen.potter@flintshire.gov.uk

To: Cllr Ian Dunbar (Chairman)

Councillors: Sian Braun, David Cox, Jean Davies, Ron Davies, Adele Davies-
Cooke, Rosetta Dolphin, Mared Eastwood, George Hardcastle, Ray Hughes, 
Dennis Hutchinson, Ted Palmer, Mike Reece, Paul Shotton and David Wisinger

20 September 2018

Dear Councillor

You are invited to attend a meeting of the Community and Enterprise Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee which will be held at 10.00 am on Wednesday, 26th September, 
2018 in the Delyn Committee Room, County Hall, Mold CH7 6NA to consider the 
following items

A G E N D A

1 APOLOGIES 
Purpose: To receive any apologies.

2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (INCLUDING WHIPPING 
DECLARATIONS) 
Purpose: To receive any Declarations and advise Members accordingly.

3 MINUTES (Pages 3 - 16)
Purpose: To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the meetings 

held on 27 June and 17 July 2018.

4 SINGLE ACCESS ROUTE TO HOUSING (SARTH) (Pages 17 - 58)

Report of Chief Officer (Housing and Assets) - Deputy Leader of the Council 
and Cabinet Member for Housing

Purpose: To consider the Allocations Policy for social housing

Public Document Pack



2

5 WHQS CAPITAL PROGRAMME – DELIVERY REVIEW UPDATE (Pages 59 
- 110)

Report of Chief Officer (Housing and Assets) - Deputy Leader of the Council 
and Cabinet Member for Housing

Purpose: To provide an update on progress of the Welsh Housing 
Quality Standards (WHQS), that the Council is delivering 
through its Capital Investment Programme

6 FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME (COMMUNITY & ENTERPRISE) (Pages 
111 - 118)

Report of Community and Enterprise Overview & Scrutiny Facilitator

Purpose: To consider the Forward Work Programme of the Community 
& Enterprise Overview & Scrutiny Committee

Yours sincerely

Robert Robins
Democratic Services Manager



COMMUNITY AND ENTERPRISE OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
27 JUNE 2018

Minutes of the meeting of the Community and Enterprise Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee of Flintshire County Council held in the Delyn Committee Room, County 
Hall, Mold on Wednesday, 27 June 2018

PRESENT: Councillor Ian Dunbar (Chairman)
Councillors: Sian Braun, David Cox, Jean Davies, Ron Davies, Adele Davies-Cooke, 
Rosetta Dolphin, Mared Eastwood, George Hardcastle, Ray Hughes, Ted Palmer, 
Mike Reece, Paul Shotton and David Wisinger

APOLOGIES: Councillor Dennis Hutchinson; and Councillor Derek Butler, Cabinet 
Member for Economic Development

ALSO PRESENT: Councillors Aaron Shotton and Andy Dunbobbin attended as 
observers, together with Councillor Adrienne Jeorrett of Wrexham County Borough 
Council

CONTRIBUTORS: Councillor Bernie Attridge, Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for 
Housing; and Service Manager, Enterprise & Regeneration

Service Manager, Housing Programmes and Councillor Sean Bibby, Deputy Chair of 
North East Wales (NEW) Homes (for minute number 13)
Chief Executive and Senior Auditor (for minute number 15)

IN ATTENDANCE: Community & Enterprise Overview & Scrutiny Facilitator and 
Democratic Services Officer

10. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

None.

11. MINUTES

The minutes of the meeting held on 16 May 2018 were submitted.

Matters Arising

Minute number 64: Year-end Council Plan 2017/18 Monitoring Report - as 
requested by Councillor Hardcastle, the Facilitator confirmed that an update on rent 
arrears would be incorporated in the report on homelessness scheduled for July.

Minute number 65: Forward Work Programme - the Facilitator agreed to follow 
up the request for a briefing note on tenants’ Service Level Agreements to share with 
the Committee.

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



RESOLVED:

That the minutes be approved as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.

12. VARIATION IN ORDER OF BUSINESS

The Chairman indicated that there would be a slight change in the order of 
business to bring forward agenda item 6.  The Service Manager, Housing 
Programmes, was due to leave the meeting early to travel to a national awards 
ceremony where the Council’s Strategic Housing and Regeneration Programme 
(SHARP) had been nominated in the Best Social Housing Development category.  The 
Chairman commended the achievements of the programme in the provision of high-
quality housing.

13. NORTH EAST WALES (NEW) HOMES BUSINESS PLAN 2018/27

The Service Manager, Housing Programmes, introduced a report on the North 
East Wales (NEW) Homes Business Plan 2018/27 which had been approved by 
Cabinet in May.  The report detailed progress on the Strategic Housing and 
Regeneration Programme (SHARP) and the process for approving new lending to 
NEW Homes for the development or purchase of affordable homes.  The Business 
Plan - which was included as a confidential appendix on the agenda - detailed housing 
to be developed through the SHARP programme, Section 106 properties and potential 
properties acquired through borrowing against existing assets.

As Deputy Chair of NEW Homes, Councillor Sean Bibby provided an overview 
of the key points.  He referred to the financial appraisal requirements and commented 
on positive working relationships between partners to facilitate the delivery of high-
quality housing at affordable rents.  An update was also given on the managed lettings 
service which contributed towards the Council’s corporate objective on the provision 
of affordable housing in the private sector.

In response to a question from Councillor Dolphin, the Service Manager 
explained the approach to managed lettings and advised that no major repairs to 
properties had been required to date.  He added that the practice of undertaking 
quarterly inspections helped to identify any issues at an early stage.

Councillor Attridge commented on the effectiveness of the high-intensity 
management programme by NEW Homes to deal with tenancy issues.

In welcoming the positive report, Councillor Hardcastle thanked the Service 
Manager and his team for their achievements.

Councillor Paul Shotton said it was pleasing to note the affordability of rent 
levels set by NEW Homes and that new regulations on letting fees could be of benefit.

Councillor Ron Davies praised the partnership with the appointed contractors, 
Wates, who were providing an excellent service.

Page 4



Councillor Palmer asked if the Committee could be represented on the NEW 
Homes Board.  The Service Manager explained the composition of the Board which 
included cross-party representation from five Members.

Councillor Attridge alluded to the former Chief Officer (Community & Enterprise) 
as a key driver in the establishment of the new company, along with the Service 
Manager and his team.  He spoke about the prospect of future growth of the company.

RESOLVED:

That the NEW Homes Business Plan 2018/27 be noted.

14. FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME

In presenting the current Forward Work Programme for consideration, the 
Facilitator referred to a special meeting in Flint on 17 July to consider the Food Poverty 
Strategy, details of which would be confirmed by email.  She also advised that the 
meeting scheduled for 19 September would need to be moved to 26 September.

Councillor Dolphin requested an item on enforcement of rental agreements and 
checking of properties.  Councillor Attridge advised that this could be covered in a 
report on housing management in general.

Councillor Hardcastle asked whether the practice of estate walkabouts could be 
reinstated - where local Members were invited to accompany officers carrying out 
checks on properties in their ward.  Councillor Attridge said that this work was the 
responsibility of Housing Officers.

During discussion, Members spoke about their individual experiences of 
reporting housing issues.

Following comments by Councillor Ron Davies, Councillor Attridge said that the 
issue of discarded supermarket trolleys had been raised at the Environment Overview 
& Scrutiny Committee.  He agreed that a copy of the briefing note would be shared 
after the meeting.

RESOLVED:

(a) That the Forward Work Programme, as amended, be approved; and

(b) That the Facilitator, in consultation with the Chairman of the Committee, be 
authorised to vary the Forward Work Programme between meetings, as the 
need arises.

15. DISABLED FACILITIES GRANT INTERNAL AUDIT REPORT 2017

The Senior Auditor presented the report summarising the findings of the 2017 
Internal Audit report into the operation of Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) scheme and 
the management responses being put in place to address these findings.

Page 5



She explained that the scope of the audit covered the administration of the 
scheme from the tender stage through to completion of work, asking Members to note 
that the service had been through period of transition.  The areas highlighted for 
improvement were detailed in the report, along with the management control action 
plan which had been developed to respond to the findings.

The Service Manager, Enterprise & Regeneration provided explanation on a 
number of processes which were being rolled out to strengthen controls and 
compliance.  These would also enable a better understanding of timescales to help 
improve performance against targets.  Progress on other actions included a new 
procurement framework to speed up the process, hold contractors to account and 
achieve value for money.  The establishment of a professional oversight board would 
help to review processes and monitor progress on the action plan.  The Audit 
Committee had accepted the findings of the report and had scheduled an update in six 
months’ time, therefore it was suggested that this Committee may wish to consider an 
update at a later stage.

The Chief Executive cited the key issue as performance and he gave assurance 
that the report had been of particular concern and demonstrated the value of audit 
work.  Due to concerns about the ownership and speed of responses to the findings, 
the professional oversight board had been set up to give a good response to the 
findings and were now tasked with reviewing and improving processes through a well-
managed leaner mechanism and to seek improvement in performance and Flintshire’s 
ranking on DFGs over the longer term.  A commitment had been given to show 
transparency of work and to review roles and responsibilities involving both Housing 
and Social Services.

Councillor Attridge agreed that the findings of the report were of concern and 
were being addressed within the action plan, and that the Audit Committee had been 
content with progress to date.  He went on to give a commitment to seek an 
improvement in the DFG service which was a long-standing issue.

Councillor Palmer spoke about the need to maximise opportunities for local 
companies.  Officers explained that the procurement framework would allocate work 
to local and regional companies.

In response to remarks by Councillor Dolphin on previously adapted Council 
owned properties that were now void, the Service Manager gave assurance that there 
was a process in place for reviewing options and matching up with the most appropriate 
applicant.  He also responded to a similar query by Councillor Hardcastle on recycling 
stair lifts removed from properties to be used by others in need.

The Service Manager provided clarification to Councillor Paul Shotton on 
relocation grants and top-up loans which were available for more complex DFGs 
exceeding the £36K threshold - neither of which were widely requested.

During discussion, Councillor Attridge suggested that the Committee receive 
the same update report as the Audit Committee in six months’ time.  The Chief 
Executive agreed and said that to give further assurance to Members, progress would 
also be reported as part of the Council Plan monitoring report.

Page 6



RESOLVED:

(a) That the content of the Disabled Facilities Grants Internal Audit report and the 
service control action plan be noted; and

(b) That the Committee receives an update report in six months’ time following 
consideration of the service control action plan by the Audit Committee.

16. MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS IN ATTENDANCE

There was one member of the press and one member of the public in 
attendance.

(The meeting started at 10am and ended at 11.05am)

…………………………
Chairman

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



COMMUNITY AND ENTERPRISE O &S COMMITTEE
17 JULY 2018

Minutes of the meeting of the Corporate Resources Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
of Flintshire County Council held in The Old Court House Café, Flint on Tuesday 17 
July 2018

PRESENT: Councillor Ian Dunbar (Chairman)
Councillors:  Sian Braun, Jean Davies, Ron Davies, Rosetta Dolphin, Mared 
Eastwood, George Hardcastle, Ted Palmer, Mike Reece, Paul Shotton and David 
Wisinger

SUBSTITUTE:  Councillor Patrick Heesom (for Ray Hughes)

APOLOGIES: Councillor Adele Davies-Cooke

CONTRIBUTORS: 
Councillor Bernie Attridge, Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Housing; 
Councillor Christine Jones, Cabinet Member for Social Services; Councillor Billy 
Mullin, Cabinet Member for Corporate Management; Chief Officer (Housing and 
Assets); Benefits Manager; Customer Support Manager; Commissioning Officer; 
Systems and Training Team Leader and Modern Apprentice  
Mr. Robbie Davison, Can Cook was in attendance prior to the start of the meeting 

IN ATTENDANCE: 
Overview & Scrutiny Facilitator and Democratic Services Support Officer

Prior to the start of the meeting, the Benefits Manager introduced Mr. Robbie 
Davison from Can Cook to the meeting, who were currently supplying the Good Food 
Hubs in Flintshire.  Mr. Robbie Davison thanked the Committee for the opportunity to 
address Members and provided a brief overview of Can Cook and a general overview 
of food aid/food poverty.  It was proposed that Can Cook would provide between 650 
and 700 free meals to children across Flintshire during the summer holidays.        

Councillor George Hardcastle asked if Can Cook provided meals for homeless 
people and rough sleepers.  Whilst the Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for 
Housing advised that there were no rough sleepers in Flintshire, Mr. Robbie Davison 
explained that the clear focus for Can Cook was to work directly with people who use 
food banks to ensure that they had access to fresh meals and across Liverpool 39,000 
meals had been provided through this channel.  

In response to a question around how the Holiday Hunger Programme was 
being funded, the Benefits Manager explained that the majority of the funding had 
been provided by Travis Perkins as part of their Legacy Fund – Community Payback.  
Cllr Rosetta Dolphin suggested that a letter be sent to Travis Perkins on behalf of the 
Committee thanking them for the funding provided.  This was supported by the 
Committee.  Councillor Paul Shotton suggested that the Deeside Business Forum be 
approached to request donations for future programmes.

Page 9



In response to a question around food allergies, Mr Davison explained that on 
the first day of the playscheme children would have to submit completed consent forms 
which included a question on any food allergies.  Once this information had been 
collated the food provided would be adapted to accommodate those allergies, which 
included the availability of vegetarian and gluten free options.   

On behalf of the Committee, the Chair thanked Mr Davison for the opportunity 
to sample the food which would be provided to children over the summer, which had 
been excellent and for his attendance and answering questions from Members.  

17. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

No declarations of interest were made.  

18. FOOD POVERTY STRATEGY

The Benefits Manager introduced the Food Poverty Strategy report which 
outlined the strategic priority of working towards addressing food poverty.

The draft Strategy, as shown in Appendix 1 of the report, had recently been 
presented and adopted by the Public Services Board (PSB) and would be published 
shortly.  Flintshire’s Public Service Board supported the development of partnership 
initiatives aimed at the reduction of poverty within the County and recently endorsed 
the development and implementation of a Community Benefit Strategy which covered 
a range of strategic priorities, as detailed within the report.

As outlined within the report, there was clearly a high degree of agreement 
between the challenges and objectives identified by the multi-agency board and Betsi 
Cadwaladr University Health Board (BCUHB), as well as the positive work currently 
undertaken by individual organisations in the community, e.g. food banks.  Given the 
level of work currently on going within the County and the strategic and aspirational 
symmetry between the Flintshire’s multi-agency PSB and BCUHB, there was a need 
to explore and agree collective next steps and the contributions partners would make 
in achieving the goals associated with the reduction of food poverty.

The Benefits Manager outlined a number of key deliverables for year one, as 
set out within the report.  One of the key deliverables was the introduction of the 
Holiday Hunger Programme which would be rolled out over the school summer 
holidays.  Details of the Programme had been provided by Mr. Robbie Davison to the 
Committee prior to the start of the meeting.    

In conclusion, the Benefits Manager reported that Flintshire had taken the lead 
in developing an alliance for North Wales to help better understand the regional issues 
around food poverty and food insecurity.  It was hoped that engagement across the 
region in tackling these issues through sharing best practice; learning from experience 
and working cross sector would be considered during a food poverty conference to be 
held in North Wales in September, 2018.

The Deputy Leader and Cabinet Members for Housing thanked the Benefits 
Manager for the report but outlined his sadness at the need for such a report and the 

Page 10



number of families across Flintshire who were in food poverty.  He commented on the 
launch of the Holiday Hunger Programme which would be held on 19th July and hoped 
that the initiatives set out within the report would end food poverty, not just for children, 
but for unemployed people and pensioners in the future.

The Cabinet Members for Corporate Management said that as a Board Member 
for NEWydd who provided healthy school meals during term time he was pleased to 
see a scheme being provided during the school summer holidays for children to 
access healthy hot meals.  The Cabinet Member for Social Services congratulated the 
Benefits Manager and her team and was pleased to see the joint working with the 
multi-agency PSB and BCUHB.  She referred to the requirements which had been 
placed on Local Authorities by the Children’s Commissioner to tackle child poverty and 
was pleased that the Council’s initiatives were meetings those requirements and those 
within the Older People’s Strategy also.            

Councillor Rosetta Dolphin questioned the value for money given the cost of 
some of the meals and said that families and pensioners may be reluctant to pay for 
the cost of the meals.  She also asked if furniture and equipment were being provided 
at the Community Food Hubs.  The Benefits Manager explained that she had not seen 
the meals in question but said that as the Council had not introduced such a scheme 
previously, feedback on pricing would be essential for future schemes.  Pricing had 
been set in comparison with the largest similar food supplier and whilst the prices were 
comparable, the meals provided through the Council did not include additives or sugar 
and are not frozen but remain fresh in the fridge for 4-7 days.  Also rather than the 
food being delivered to homes, the principle behind the scheme was to bring 
communities together.  She also advised that opportunities were being looked into to 
access equipment via community funds.

Councillor Paul Shotton welcomed the report, in particular the collaborative 
work which had been carried out but raised concerns around reports that supplies at 
food banks were running low due to increased demand.  He commented on a scheme 
which had been introduced in Yorkshire where food nearing its expiry date was 
distributed to those in need and also the gardens at Pen Y Llan, Connah’s Quay where 
residents were growing their own vegetables.                   

Councillor Ron Davies commented on a similar provision for hot meals provided 
at Riverside Church, Shotton and asked if they could be contacted to expand their 
current scheme.  The Benefits Manager advised that focus was currently on raising 
the profile of the Community Food Hubs and Holiday Hunger Programme but it was 
hoped that organisations across Flintshire would contact the Council to allow the 
schemes to link and grow in the future.  She said that she was confident that there 
were many excellent schemes already in place across Flintshire, especially within the 
third sector.        

Councillor George Hardcastle concurred with previous comments made and 
thanked the Benefits Manager for a positive report.  He asked whether the number of 
meals required each day had been estimated.  The Benefits Manager explained that 
the Programme planned to deliver 800 hot meals per day over 20 play scheme sites 
over the school summer holiday period.  The figures had been based on last year’s 

Page 11



play scheme attendance figures but a 30% increase had been factored in to ensure 
all children attended had access to a hot meal.      

In response to a question from Councillor Sian Braun, the Benefits Manager 
confirmed that the Holiday Hunger Programme would be available to play scheme 
aged children but any feedback received from the Programme would be taken into 
consideration for next year’s provision.    

Councillor Mike Reece suggested a notice be placed in Member’s Services 
asking Members for donations towards the Holiday Hunger Programme.  This 
suggestion was supported by the Committee. 

RESOLVED:

That the Committee continue to support the ongoing work to address food poverty and 
food insecurity in Flintshire.

19. UPDATE ON THE MANAGEMENT OF THE HOMELESS LEGISLATION WITHIN 
THE HOUSING (WALES) ACT 2014

The Customer Support Manager introduced a report which provided an update 
on how the requirements of the new Homelessness Legislation within the Housing 
(Wales) Act 2014 were being met and some of the projected challenges that faced the 
Council. 

In 2017/18 the Council saw an increase in the number of households presenting 
at risk of homelessness and increased use of temporary accommodation.  The Council 
was committed to prevent rough sleeping and had worked to model the services and 
grant funding to mitigate the risk of increased temporary accommodation costs, as 
detailed within the report.  The focus of the Housing Options Team, wherever possible, 
was to prevent homelessness and enable a household to remain in their home and to 
achieve a successful homeless prevention outcome the service needed a supply of 
housing options that were affordable, and could be made available to households 
accessing the service.  The shortage of available options had been highlighted as a 
growing issues within the Flintshire Homeless Review and would be a focus of the 
action plan and the initiatives, as detailed within the report.

The Customer Support Manager provided a detailed update on the challenges 
facing the Council, as outlined within the report, which focused around:-

 The Social Housing Register;
 Increasing the Availability of Private Rented Sector Properties;
 Interim Accommodation; 
 Preventing Rough Sleepers;
 Single Households; and
 Vulnerable and Complex Needs

In conclusion, the Customer Support Manager reported that in June 2016, the 
Heads of Housing of all six North Wales Local Authorities together with the Chartered 
Institute of Housing Cymru, undertook a commitment to work together to develop a 

Page 12



regional homelessness strategy.  The strategic approach, as detailed in the report 
would be presented to Cabinet at the end of the current financial year as the Regional 
Homelessness Strategy and each North Wales Local Authority was developing its own 
local action plan based on the priorities of the regional strategy.

The Chief Officer (Housing and Assets) commented on the need to increase 
the availability of Private Rented Sector properties and advised that the Council 
needed to be mindful of construction works starting at Wylfa Newydd, Anglesey which 
could have a negative impact on private rented accommodation if there wasn’t enough 
availability in Anglesey and Conwy.  He said that it was vital that house building 
continued across Flintshire through the Strategic Housing and Regeneration 
Programme (SHARP) as the Council remained one of the few Local Authority’s 
building new social housing accommodation.     

The Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Housing advised that Cabinet had 
considered the report in the morning but any comments from Members during the 
meeting would be fed back to Cabinet and taken on board.  He advised that the Council 
provided support to people who presented themselves as homeless through the 
provision of temporary accommodation but it was important that Welsh Government 
continued to provide funding to ensure the continued use of temporary 
accommodation.   

The Chairman welcomed the reduction in the use of bed and breakfast 
accommodation.  Councillor George Hardcastle echoed the comments and 
congratulated the Customer Support Manager and her team for achieving this 
reduction.     

Councillor Paul Shotton raised concerns around the 39% increase of people 
presenting themselves as homeless due to changes to the welfare system and on a 
recent study which had been carried out that showed that 75% of tenants were in debt 
due to the introduction of Universal Credit.  He welcomed the work being undertaken 
by the Customer Support Manager and her team to mitigate these challenges and 
asked how many private landlords across Flintshire had registered with Rent Smart 
Wales.  The Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Housing suggested that the 
Facilitator contact the Chief Officer (Planning, Environment and Economy) to provide 
a response on the number of landlords registered with Rent Smart Wales.  The Chief 
Officer confirmed that tenants were only placed in private accommodation where the 
landlords were registered with Rent Smart Wales.

Councillor Patrick Heesom said that he welcomed the comprehensive report 
which he felt addressed how the issues around the increase in the number of 
households presenting themselves at risk of homelessness.  He referred to the Chief 
Officer’s comments on ensuring the future of the SHARP which he felt was critically 
important and ensuring the need for an appropriate affordable housing supply, but 
raised concerns around developers finding loopholes which saw them providing less 
affordable housing than needed through submitting a number of development 
applications on the same site.  He said that there was a need for the Council to develop 
a closer working relationship with private landlords and sought an assurance that the 
Regional Homeless Strategy would be submitted to a future meeting of the Committee 
prior to approval by Cabinet. 

Page 13



The Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Housing assured the Committee 
that the Regional Homeless Strategy would be presented to Scrutiny prior to adoption 
at Cabinet.  He said that he agreed with the comments around closer working 
relationships with private landlords and said that together with the Chief Officer, he 
was working on further developing the Landlord Forum. 

In response to a question from Councillor Heesom around the Triage Service, 
the Customer Support Manager explained that everyone was treated equitably and 
when letters were sent out to applicants details of the appeals process were provided. 

Councillor Rosetta Dolphin agreed with previous comments and said that the 
Council needed to focus its attention on the SHARP.  She referred to ‘hard to let’ 
properties in her own ward and suggested that they be re-modelled to one or two 
bedroomed properties which were most needed.  The Chief Officer agreed with the 
suggestion and commented on the issues which had arisen following the introduction 
of the ‘bedroom tax’.  The Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Housing said that 
there was also a shortage or larger properties in some areas of the County and 
commented that there was a need for affordable housing developments across all 
communities in Flintshire. 

Councillor Heesom commented on the increase in planning applications for 
Houses of Multiple Occupancy across Flintshire and raised concerns around private 
landlords housing 5/6 people but paying council tax for only one property.  He said 
that this matter needed to be addressed.  He also suggested that the Council needed 
to work more closely with multi-national building developers to ensure larger 
developments of affordable homes.  The Chief Officer commented that Waites, who 
were delivering SHARP were a national building development company but said that 
it was important to acknowledge the contribution smaller building development 
companies made in providing good homes.                              

RESOLVED:

(a) That the update on the management of the new legislation within the Housing 
(Wales) Act 2014 be noted;

(b) That the emerging themes within the Regional Homeless Strategy, and 
challenges that the Council had faced finding suitable housing options for 
households and the plans to mitigate further risks be supported;

(c) That the proposals to alleviate homelessness in the County be supported; and

(d) That the Regional Homeless Strategy and Action Plan be submitted to a future 
meeting of the Committee, for consideration, prior to adoption by Cabinet.

20. MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS IN ATTENDANCE

There was one member of the public in attendance.

Page 14



(The meeting started at 2.00 pm and ended at 3.15 pm)

…………………………
Chair

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



COMMUNITY AND ENTERPRISE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Date of Meeting Wednesday 26th September 2018

Report Subject Single Access Route to Housing (SARTH)

Cabinet Member Deputy Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for 
Housing

Report Author Chief Officer (Housing and Assets)

Type of Report Strategic

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Single Access Route to Housing (SARTH) is a partnership project between all 
the major social landlords in North East Wales, covering the local authority areas of 
Conwy County Borough, Denbighshire and Flintshire.  

SARTH introduced a banding allocation system and a policy that shifted away from 
a focus purely on social housing towards one which provides advice on realistic 
housing options.  

SARTH went live in Flintshire in April 2015 and following a successful bid the Council 
has hosted SARTH for Denbighshire from April 2017.

The Council manages the housing register on behalf of Denbighshire County 
Council.  This includes the housing solutions triage as well as managing the social 
housing register.  The Council are developing new contracts for Denbighshire 
County Council and the partners with revised performance targets.

Demand for the social housing register has grown over the past three years.  This 
is putting increasing pressure on the management of the register and leading to 
increased wait times for properties.

A review of the policy was carried out in 2017 following a year of operation.  The 
review was necessary to ensure the policy was compliant with new legislation.  It 
also allowed any issues raised to be addressed and to develop the policy into a 
more user friendly document.

RECOMMENDATIONS

1 To continue to support the management of the Single Access Route to 
Housing (SARTH) policy in Flintshire

Page 17

Agenda Item 4



REPORT DETAILS

1.00 EXPLAINING THE MANAGEMENT OF THE SARTH POLICY

1.01 Background

1.02 SARTH is a partnership project between all the major social landlords in 
North East Wales, covering the local authority areas of Conwy County 
Borough, Denbighshire and Flintshire.  

1.03 In addition to the above Councils, the partnership also includes Cartrefi 
Conwy, Clwyd Alyn, Grwp Cynefin, North Wales Housing, Wales and West 
and Cartrefi Cymunedol Gwynedd housing associations.

1.04 The SARTH policy introduced a banding allocation system and a policy that 
moved away from a focus purely on social housing and more towards 
providing advice on realistic housing options. The regional policy was 
developed in recognition that there is a high demand for rented homes in 
the region and too few vacant properties to meet demand.   

1.05 It was agreed that partners will provide the best, most useful, consistent and 
accessible advice and information to everyone who approaches them 
looking for housing. The aim is to enable customers to make the most 
informed choice about how to find a home to meet their needs. This advice 
covers a whole range of affordable housing options, including social 
housing, private rented accommodation, home ownership and other 
alternatives. 

1.06 The policy provides the following commitment:

“All partners in the region will allocate housing stock in a transparent, fair, 
consistent and accessible way, which prioritises the people in our 
communities according to their housing needs and which meets our legal 
requirements.  Working together in this way, partners can share strengths 
and good practice and place the customer at the heart of everything we do.”

1.07 SARTH went live in Flintshire in April 2015 and following a successful bid. 
The Council has hosted SARTH for Denbighshire from April 2017.

1.08 New Policy

1.09 A review of the SARTH policy was carried out in 2017 following the first year 
of operation.  The review identified that the policy required updating to 
ensure compliance with the Housing (Wales) Act 2014.  

1.10 The allocation policy is principally governed by The Housing Act 1996 and 
the Code of Guidance for Homelessness and Allocations 2016 and Welsh 
Statutory Instruments 2014 No. 2603 (w. 257) – Housing Wales – The 
Allocation of Homelessness (Eligibility) (Wales) Regulations 2014. 
Other relevant legislation includes 

• Freedom of Information Act 2000 
• Equalities Act 2010 

Page 18



• Social Care and Well Being Act 2014 
• Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 
• Wellbeing of Future Generations Act 2015 

1.11 A review of issues raised at the operational panel and steering group 
established that there were no significant changes required to any of the key 
principles of the policy.

1.12 The requirement for an updated policy provided an opportunity to develop a 
document that is easier to read and understand.  The policy (attached at 
appendix one) sets out the key commitment of the partners to a common 
regional approach to social housing allocations.  There are three main 
sections within the policy:

Part one  - policy statement including:

 aims and objectives 
 equality information
 legal context; 
 commitment to preference and choice; 
 how the application will be handled; 
 eligibility for the register; 
 how to apply and how to review decisions.

Part two - the banding scheme;
 how applications are prioritised.  
 circumstances in which additional preference is given 
 circumstances where an application may be given reduced priority.  

Part three - allocation of properties;
 matching a household to a property; 
 making an offer; 
 offer refusals 
 specialist housing requirements.

1.13 Regional Collaboration

1.14 A regional panel has been in place from the outset to maximise the benefit 
of collaboration through the SARTH partnership.  The panel is formed of 
operational managers from each partner.  The primary purpose of the panel 
is to ensure consistency in the application of the policy across the three 
counties and to review complaints and appeals from applicants.  

1.15 The panel has been instrumental in addressing wider topics than the register 
such as approaches to changes in legislation and issues arising from 
welfare reform.  The panel led the review of the policy to ensure that policies 
and working practices remain compliant. 

1.16 The SARTH steering group includes senior officer representatives from all 
partner organisations across all three counties.  The group meets on an ad-
hoc basis to serve as an escalation point for strategic issues arising out of 
the panel.  The group has further developed partnership arrangements 

Page 19



between landlord organisations across the region and agreed spend of the 
regional SARTH budget for IT developments such as Flintshire’s Customer 
Relationship Management (CRM) integration and staff support where 
necessary.

1.17 Flintshire has been managing the triage and housing register for 
Denbighshire since they went live in April 2017.  There are many tangible 
benefits of Flintshire hosting both registers including consistency of 
approach, reduced management and ICT costs and an income stream for 
Flintshire.  The Council receives £74,345 from external partners for 
delivering this service. 

1.18 Flintshire’s legal department are drafting contracts for Denbighshire and the 
other partners which will meet all the requirements of the Data Protection 
Act 2018 and include detailed performance targets expected from the 
Council as host for both Flintshire and Denbighshire.

1.19 Social Housing Demand

1.20 In 2017/18, there were 3495 triage applications completed for customers 
approaching for housing assistance which represents a 3.9% increase in 
enquiries when compared to the same reporting period in 2016/17.  

1.21 The numbers on the social housing register are increasing and as such 
waiting times for properties are becoming longer.  There were 960 
households on the list in April 2016, this increased to 1,478 in April 2017 
and increased again to 1,649 in April 2018.  The households that were let 
properties in quarter four of 2017/18 for one, two and three bedroom 
properties had been waiting on average between twelve to eighteen months 
to be allocated a property.

1.22 The current process for administrating applications is manual and extremely 
labour intensive and this was becoming a pressure as volumes increased. 
Work is currently underway to introduce automation of the process which 
will streamline processes and allow the limited resources available to focus 
on the more critical aspects of the service. This is a high priority action for 
the service and we expect CRM integration to be complete in the Autumn 
which brings further benefits such as improved housing demand 
information.

1.23 The chart below shows the breakdown of all the applicants on the register 
by their band.  It is expected that the vast majority of cases will be in band 
two (B2) which is for applicants with a local connection and a housing need. 
Band one (B1) applicants are those with an extreme urgent need and Band 
three and four (B3 and B4) are for applicants with no local connection or 
those who have had their banding reduced as a result of their behaviour, 
not addressing rent arrears or it has been identified that they have adequate 
resources to resolve their own housing need.

Page 20



1.24 Audit Update

1.25 An audit of SARTH was undertaken during September 2017 as part of the 
approved Internal Audit Plan for 2017/18. This was a follow up to an audit 
on Housing Allocations undertaken in 2016/17.  A report was brought to 
Overview and Scrutiny committee in January 2018 to update on progress 
with recommendations which showed that all urgent actions had already 
been implemented.  Outstanding actions reported at the time have been 
completed within the agreed timescale.  

1.26 A key area of work was the need to develop updated and more 
comprehensive operational guidance and procedure documents that sit 
beneath the policy for staff involved in the management of the register and 
housing allocations.  Comprehensive guidance and procedures have been 
finalised.  A robust implementation process is being rolled out providing 
small group training sessions for all staff that have any part managing the 
register or making allocations.  This is mandatory training which will improve 
consistency, ownership and engagement across the teams.

1.27 Specialist Housing

1.28 The vast majority of applicants’ housing need will be met from the available 
housing stock. However, some applicant households require properties to 
meet needs arising from disability or household size; for example, to 
accommodate wheel chairs, fit bed hoists, stair lifts and accessible bathing 
rooms and some households require more than four bedrooms. Such 
housing is in particularly short supply within the social housing stock and 
these requirements would not necessarily be met within reasonable 
timescales or within existing stock without some further intervention.  

1.29 In Flintshire, the current specialist register has 56 applicants awaiting 
adapted properties of which 16 have an urgent need in band one.  In 
addition, there are 12 applicants awaiting large properties (five beds or 
more).

1.30 The Specialist Housing Group’s purpose is to keep a track of complex cases 
and work to identify solutions where there are specialist requirements.  
Since its relaunch in 2017 the group have found long term suitable housing 
solutions for 35 specialist cases with a further eight provisional allocations 

Page 21



in progress.

1.31 Sourcing suitable accommodation for applicants with specialist needs and 
identifying properties that are suitable for complex adaptation work within 
our housing stock is difficult and budget constraints makes this even more 
challenging.   The 35 cases that have received specialist housing have been 
delivered through a mixture of new builds and adapting existing stock.

1.32 Although good progress has been made in this area the level of demand for 
specialist housing is growing and appropriate solutions cannot always be 
achieved quickly which often means applicants who do have specialist 
requirements have a considerably longer wait for properties than those 
without.  A full report on Specialist Housing will be brought to committee 
early in 2019.

2.00 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

2.01 There are no specific resource implications arising from this update report.

3.00 CONSULTATIONS REQUIRED / CARRIED OUT

3.01 There were no consultations required for this update report.

4.00 RISK MANAGEMENT

4.01

4.02

4.03

The growing demand for social housing and increased wait times presents 
a risk of increased pressure on the Homeless Service.  

Flintshire receives income from Denbighshire County Council and the social 
landlords to deliver the register on their behalf.  If any of the partners 
terminated this arrangement it would result in a reduced income to the 
Council.  This risk is managed within existing business planning 
approaches.

The updated policy has been subject to an equality impact assessment 
carried out by Tai Pawb.   

5.00 APPENDICES

5.01 Appendix One: Single Access Route to Housing Policy 2018 attached.

6.00 LIST OF ACCESSIBLE BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Page 22



6.01 None.

Contact Officer: Katie Clubb, Customer Support Manager
Telephone: 01352 7035518
E-mail: katie.clubb@flintshire.gov.uk

7.00 GLOSSARY OF TERMS

7.01 Housing Solutions Triage – the initial discussion with the customer about
their circumstances and housing need.

7.02 Single Access Route to Housing (SARTH) Policy – the regional common 
policy for all major social landlords allocating social housing properties 
across Conwy, Denbighshire and Wrexham.

7.03 CRM – the Council’s customer facing case management system

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



Page 29



Page 30



Page 31



Page 32



Page 33



Page 34



Page 35



Page 36



Page 37



Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



Page 48



Page 49



Page 50



Page 51



Page 52



Page 53



Page 54



Page 55



Page 56



Page 57



Page 58



COMMUNITY AND ENTERPRISE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Date of Meeting Wednesday 26th September 2018 

Report Subject WHQS Capital Programme - Delivery Review Update

Cabinet Member Deputy Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for 
Housing

Report Author Chief Officer (Housing and Assets)

Type of Report Strategic Update

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This report provides an update on progress of the Welsh Housing Quality 
Standards (WHQS) the council is delivering through its Capital Investment 
Programme.

The report focuses on achievements to date and maps the journey thus far.  

The WHQS Programme of Works has reached its halfway milestone moving into 
the final three years of delivery.  The report focuses on what has been delivered to 
date and what is left to be completed before the 2020 deadline.

RECOMMENDATIONS

1 Scrutiny to note the report and progress made in delivering the Housing 
Capital Investment Programme.

Page 59

Agenda Item 5



REPORT DETAILS

1.00 BACKGROUND & OVERVIEW
 

1.01 The Welsh Housing Quality Standard (WHQS) is a national standard which 
seeks to improve the quality of the Councils retained social housing stock. 
This is standard is set by the Welsh Government (WG).

The Housing Capital Works Team is responsible for delivering Internal & 
External upgrades to all Council owned properties, complying with the 
WHQS by the year 2020. The modernisation and refurbishment 
programme seeks to provide the opportunity for all tenants to live in good 
quality homes which meet the requirements of that household. 

1.02 WHQS Programme

The Capital Works Team were tasked with delivering a major investment 
programme for its council owned properties and have implemented the 
Capital Investment Programme by:

 Agreeing the 2020 Business Plan with Welsh 
Government.

 Completing an independent Stock Condition Survey.
 Consulting with Members and holding Member 

Workshops in 2014 setting out what the programme was 
seeking to achieve and how it would be delivered.

 Conducting workshops with the Tenant Federation.
 Conducting Tenant Consultation Workshops in our 

Connects Centres.
 Sending over 7,200 Tenant Questionnaires asking for 

feedback and comments on the proposed Capital 
Programme.

 Determining the various workstreams and the New 
District Areas for Project Delivery as a result of 
consultation feedback.

 Packaging the workstreams into Years based upon 
Manageable Numbers and Geographical Locations.

 Tendering each work stream separately.
 Completing over 50 interviews with Contractors utilising 

Tenants & Volunteers.
 Awarding the contracts, commencing and managing the 

works onsite.

1.03 The WHQS Programme has been created to ensure all Flintshire County 
Council housing properties will comply with the WHQS by the year 2020, 
as required by Welsh Government.

Each year the Capital Works Team are required to report progress to the 
Housing Asset Management Team, Housing Board Members and Welsh 
Government.  Our annual returns to Welsh Government track our progress 
in terms of how many components are WHQS compliant and how many 
properties achieve the WHQS status overall.

Page 60



For several years the Capital Works Team have been attempting to fully 
implement the Housing Assets software system with a view to procuring a 
more robust and consistent approach to data collection and contract 
management. A solution has now been procured and we are in the final 
phases of testing and implementation.  We have recently completed a 
major data cleansing exercise of all asset and component data, based on 
work undertaken to date this has resulted in our overall compliancy figure 
increasing from 0.3% to 27.9%.

From our 7,200 Housing Stock, we are currently reporting:

• WHQS Compliant Kitchens: 100%
• WHQS Compliant Bathrooms: 77%
• WHQS Compliant Roofing & Associated Components: 69%
• WHQS Compliant Windows / Doors: 75%
• WHQS Customer Satisfaction Average: 95.8%

The WHQS project team is nearing the end of the Internal Work 
programme (Kitchens & Bathrooms) and as a result the remaining 
properties are proving to either be Tenant Refusals or No Access 
(Acceptable Fails). Welsh Government classes any property subject to 
an Acceptable Fail as compliant in terms of achieving the WHQS.  The 
team have allowed a 10% Acceptable Fail scenario within the Capital 
Programme.  

1.04 The WHQS project team have now procured all of the main WHQS 
Contracts moving into Year 4 (2018-19) of the Capital Programme. We are 
currently ahead of target in relation to the number of components installed 
and are now looking at implementing our Personal Digital Assistant (PDA) 
Solution sometime in Quarter 4 (Q4) of this financial year which should 
bring further efficiencies and be a more effective approach when collecting 
asset information, stock condition information and other data.

1.05 From the first delivery year of the Capital Investment Programme, the team 
have delivered many contracts varying from internal upgrade works 
through to large external refurbishment and environmental schemes. The 
Council has invested circa £60m to date within its housing stock and is 
currently ahead of target in meeting the WHQS 2020 deadline.

1.06 Welsh Audit Office Report 

Flintshire County Council received notification from the Welsh Audit Office 
that they proposed to undertake a review of the WHQS.  The review 
focused on the experience of council tenants in the degree of choice 
experienced within the delivery of WHQS both before, during, and after the 
work was commissioned.  It also reviewed how tenants have been 
consulted on the future plans of the council to achieve WHQS by 2020.

In undertaking the review, the Audit Office sought to answer a key 
question;

1. Whether the needs, experience and aspirations of service users 

Page 61



inform the design and delivery of services to more closely meet their 
needs?

As a supplement to the main question, the Audit Office also explored;
1. Are services designed with the needs, views and aspirations of 

service users in mind?
2. Are services users satisfied with the quality of services they 

received?
3. Are services users able to access the services they need?
4. Does the Council have effective two-way communication with 

service users?
5. Does the Council have a robust project plan for continuing to meet 

WHQS, which sets out key actions, responsibilities and resources? 
6. Does the Council have effective arrangements in place to monitor 

and challenge the council’s progress in continuing to meet WHQS?
7. Is the Council’s progress towards WHQS making a positive 

difference to the lives of its housing residents and achieving the 
Council’s intended wider benefits of the programme?

Prior to the commencement of the audit, a meeting was convened 
between Flintshire County Council Housing Service and the lead auditor 
from WAO. 
Areas covered within the meeting included; 

1. Arrangements and the content of meetings with the Leader of the 
Council, Portfolio Holder for Housing and the Chief executive.

2. Meeting with Flintshire tenants association
3. Identification of 600 addresses (not personal details) of properties 

which have experience of the WHQS installation programme to date 
and from these WAO will select from across section of properties 
from general needs to sheltered accommodation. 

4. Interviews with key staff members

As can be noted above the audit covered a number of areas relating to our 
service users.  Having undertaken the surveys considered the feedback 
from users and moderated their findings WAO concluded that:-

“Overall, we found that the Council is making good progress 
towards achieving the Welsh Housing Quality Standard and most 
Council tenants are satisfied with the quality of the service and their 
homes.”

2.00 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

2.01 With large programmes of activity such as this there are always concerns 
that staff retention may be challenging particularly as this programme was 
being implemented across those stock retaining local authorities in Wales 
at the same time which could have led to market overheat.  In this context 
we have been able to retain staff and recruit to specialist positions so that 
the programme can continue on plan and in doing so reducing the 
potential risk of resources leaking from the programme delivery teams.

Page 62



2.02 When creating our delivery programme, budget estimates were made for 
the required upgrade works to our existing properties.  These estimates 
were made with certain contingencies for any unforeseen works such as 
Structural Repairs etc.  When working on new build properties there is a 
degree of certainty with regards to condition and the materials utilised 
during the construction process etc. as everything is an absolute measure. 

When working on properties over 60, 70 & 80 years of age, there is a 
higher degree of uncertainty when it comes to the condition and the 
materials that may have or may not have been used at the time of 
construction phase.  This could or could not include the use of asbestos or 
substandard working practices and other materials i.e. substandard 
copper.

The Capital Budgets were based on an independent stock condition 
survey.  Prior to works commencing onsite, the Capital Works Team also 
completed scoping surveys to validate that the stock condition data was 
consistent with the original survey.  
 

3.00 CONSULTATIONS REQUIRED / CARRIED OUT

3.01 Prior to the Capital Investment Programme commencing, the team held 
Member Workshops in 2014 where the majority of Members attended and 
were actively involved in the design and delivery of the Capital 
Programme.

We also held Tenant Federation Workshops where we engaged with the 
federation with regards to what priority and which order the works should 
be completed along with discussing the potential to merge certain 
workstreams, i.e. Internal Works were prioritised first with both the Kitchen 
and Bathroom Upgrade works merging into one work stream.

We also held Tenant Consultation Workshops in our FCC Connects 
Centres and community centres engaging with our tenants and discussing 
the Capital Programme along with ascertaining what order tenants would 
prefer to have components of their home upgraded first.

We also sent over 7,200 Tenant Questionnaires asking for feedback and 
comments on the proposed Capital Programme.

We initially completed circa 50 interviews with Contractors utilising 
Tenants & Volunteers.  This has increased year on year when new 
contracts are awarded.

4.00 RISK MANAGEMENT

4.01 The quality and availability of Contractors and Tradesman who are open 
and willing to work within tenant properties as opposed to New Build 

Page 63



Contracts continues to be challenging to procure.  Engaging with our 
supply chain early on and sharing our Capital Investment Programme 
aspirations with our Contract Framework Partners assists us to procure 
longer term contracts and therefore reduces risk of inflated costs based on 
longer contract arrangements.  The longer term arrangements makes the 
Council an attractive client to work for and with.

5.00 APPENDICES

5.01 Appendix 1 - WHQS Guidance Document 2008 - PDF

6.00 LIST OF ACCESSIBLE BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

6.01 https://www.flintshire.gov.uk/en/Resident/Housing/Welsh-Housing-Quality-Standard-
WHQS.aspx

Contact Officer: Sean O’Donnell (Capital Works Manager)
Telephone: 01352 701642
E-mail: Sean.O’Donnell@flintshire.gov.uk

7.00 GLOSSARY OF TERMS

7.01 Capital Programme: The Council’s financial plan covering capital 
schemes and expenditure proposals for the current year and a number of 
future years.  It also includes estimates of the capital resources available 
to finance the programme.

7.02 The Welsh Housing Quality Standard (WHQS): is a national standard of 
quality for homes. This is set by the Welsh Government.
It means that all tenants in Wales should have the opportunity to live in 
good quality homes which meet the requirements of that household. 

7.03 Acceptable Fail: Welsh Government understand that some homes cannot 
receive the WHQS works due to 4 reasons, listed below: 

1. Works are physically impossible carry out, 
2. It is not cost effective to do the works, 
3. Timing (works due in near future already) 
4. Tenant refuses the improvements. 

These are called ‘Acceptable Fails’ and the Welsh Government will accept 
that 20% of our properties will be in this group. FCC have reduced this 
figure for the area to 10%; which is our current target

7.04 Wales Audit Office: works to support the Auditor General as the public 
sector watchdog for Wales.  They aim to ensure that the people of Wales 
know whether public money is being managed wisely and that public 

Page 64

https://www.flintshire.gov.uk/en/Resident/Housing/Welsh-Housing-Quality-Standard-WHQS.aspx
https://www.flintshire.gov.uk/en/Resident/Housing/Welsh-Housing-Quality-Standard-WHQS.aspx
https://www.flintshire.gov.uk/en/Resident/Housing/Welsh-Housing-Quality-Standard-WHQS.aspx


bodies in Wales understand how to improve outcomes.

7.05 Financial Year: the period of 12 months commencing on 1 April

7.06 Budget: a statement expressing the Council’s policies and service levels 
in financial terms for a particular financial year.  In its broadest sense it 
includes both the revenue budget and capital programme and any 
authorised amendments to them.

7.07 PDA Solution: Mobile hand held device used for capturing stock data 
directly linked to our asset database.

7.08 Contract Framework: 

A Contract Framework is an agreement between one or more contracting 
authorities and one or more economic operators. These frameworks have 
Contractors, Consultants and Suppliers that have been successful in 
joining the specific work categories. 

The Council often uses these frameworks to procure works that have 
already gone through a tender process in line with OJEU and can be 
utilised to procure works or services.

They often offer the most economic advantage in terms of value for money 
and local training provision.

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



The Welsh Housing 
Quality Standard 

Revised Guidance for Social Landlords on Interpretation 
and Achievement of the Welsh Housing Quality Standard 

July 2008


Page 67



THE WELSH HOUSING QUALITY STANDARD 

Contents


1.0	 Overview of the Welsh Housing Quality Standard 2


2.0	 The background and purpose of the Revised Guidance 3


3.0	 Understanding Minimum Requirements 5


4.0	 The Milestones 6


5.0	 What social landlords need to do to meet the Milestones 7


6.0	 Glossary 9


7.0	 The Welsh Housing Quality Standard


Part 1  In a good state of repair 11


Part 2  Safe and secure 12


Part 3  Adequately heated, fuel efficient and well insulated 18


Part 4  Contain uptodate kitchens and bathrooms 20


Part 5  Well managed (for rented housing) 24


Part 6  Located in attractive and safe environments 25


Part 7  As far as possible suit the specific requirements of the household (e.g. specific disabilities) 28


8.0	 Assessment 32


9.0	 Stock Condition Surveys 33


Appendix 

1 Space Standards Layout Drawings 35


2 Worked examples of determining Nominal Occupancy 38


3 The Standard Assessment Checklist 39


1 

Page 68



1.0	 OVERVIEW OF THE WELSH HOUSING QUALITY STANDARD 

Overview of the Welsh 
Housing Quality Standard 1.0 
‘Better Homes for People in Wales‘ states 
the National Assembly for Wales’ vision 
that “all households in Wales … shall 
have the opportunity to live in good 
quality dwellings that are: 

1.	 in a good state of repair 

2.	 safe and secure 

3.	 adequately heated, fuel efficient and well insulated 

4.	 contain uptodate kitchens and bathrooms 

5.	 well managed (for rented housing) 

6.	 located in attractive and safe environments 

7.	 as far as possible suit the specific requirements of the 
household (e.g. specific disabilities)” 

The Welsh Assembly Government is committed to bringing 
all existing social housing up to the Welsh Housing Quality 
Standard by the end of 2012. 

2 

Page 69



THE WELSH HOUSING QUALITY STANDARD 

Background and purpose

of the Revised Guidance
 2.0 
The Welsh Housing Quality Standard (the 
Standard) was introduced in 2002 and 
subsequent progress and implementation 
by landlords has been variable. There 
have been calls from landlords for help in 
defining aspects of the Standard that are 
seen as interpretive. 

In 2004 HouseMark was approached by Cardiff City 
Council followed by a number of local authorities to 
provide additional guidance in interpreting the Standard. 
As a result, HouseMark invited key stakeholders from 
across the social housing sector, including representatives 
from the Welsh Assembly’s Housing Directorate, to form a 
technical steering group to provide further clarification to 
the Guidance. 

HouseMark and the Welsh Assembly Government would 
like to thank the following organisations for their valuable 
input into the revision of this Guidance: 

� Cardiff City Council Housing Department for their 
initial request for HouseMark to undertake this piece 
of work 

� The Technical Steering group comprising the Welsh 
Local Government Association, representatives of 
local authorities, representatives of housing 
associations and Community Housing Cymru 

� Welsh Local Government Data Unit 

In parallel with the working party, the Living in Wales 
Property survey 2004 (LIW) included an assessment on a 
sample basis of progress against the measurable items 
within the Standard. The results reported in June 2006, 
showed poor progress with only 0.8% of Registered 
Social Landlord (RSL) dwellings, and no Local Authority 
(LA) dwellings, complying with the measurable aspects of 
the Standard. 

The experience gained in measuring progress against the 
Standard during the LIW survey and the experience gained 
from social landlords’ implementation of the Standard, 
have been used to inform this Revised Guidance. 

Updates in the Revised Guidance 

This Guidance provides updates to the original guidance 
in several ways: 

Changes to legislative requirements and responsibilities 

The Housing Act 2004 changed the way in which 
landlords assessed the standard and safety of their 
dwellings. The Act replaced the Fitness Standard with the 
Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS). 
Landlords will need to include HHSRS into their inspection 
process and stock condition surveys. ‘The new system 
links house conditions with the health and safety of the 
occupants’ (source: Housing Health and Safety Rating 
System Operating Guidance). 

Clarification on the Minimum Requirements through 
an expanded interpretation section 

The issues raised around interpretation of the Minimum 
Requirements have been dealt with through the 
introduction of an interpretation section for each element 
incorporated into the Standard. The intention is to reduce 
inconsistency in interpretation and clarify the purpose of 
the Minimum Requirements. 

How to use the document 

This document has been revised to help social landlords 
understand and interpret the elements of the Welsh 
Housing Quality Standard as well as the planning and 
monitoring that needs to take place on a continuous basis. 

The first six sections of the document set out the policy 
context to the Standard, and provide some useful information 
for the timetabling, planning and implementation of 
improvement programmes to meet the Standard. 

Section seven sets out the Standard itself and is broken 
down into seven main parts numbered 17. For each part 
of the Standard, readers will find: 

� the text of the Standard 

� the Minimum Requirements expected for a dwelling 
to meet the Standard 

3 

Page 70



2.0	 BACKGROUND AND PURPOSE OF THE REVISED GUIDANCE 

2.0 
� interpretation guidance on the Minimum 

Requirements. This section also includes good 
practice references pointing some additional good 
practice resources and organisations. The good 
practice references are not mandatory and will be 
updated as and when further resources and good 
practice examples become available 

The purpose of including interpretation within each part is 
to expand upon the Minimum Requirements and provide 
a detailed explanation of the elements within the 
Standard. 

Section eight is the Assessment section. This provides 
guidance on how to assess dwellings against the Standard 
and each element contained within the Standard. Section 
nine provides updated guidance on carrying out stock 
condition surveys. 

Appendix 1 includes Standard Layout Drawings for 
Furniture and Appendix 2 provides a table for determining 
Nominal Occupancy of dwellings and worked examples 
according to floor space. Appendix 3 provides a ‘Standard 
checklist’ as a quick reference point for landlords. 

The Welsh Assembly Government’s 
objectives 

In July 2001 the National Assembly approved the 
National Housing Strategy for Wales ‘Better Homes 
for People in Wales’. 

‘Better Homes for People in Wales’ sets out the Welsh 
Assembly Government’s longterm vision for housing in 
Wales. Central to that vision is the expectation that all 
households in Wales shall have the opportunity to live in 
good quality homes. To achieve this, the physical standard 
and condition of existing housing must be maintained 
and improved to the Welsh Housing Quality Standard. 

The Standard has been developed to provide a common 
target standard for the physical condition of all housing 
in Wales. 

The Welsh Assembly Government recognises that the 
Standard represents a major challenge for the social 
housing sector in Wales, but believes that aiming for 
anything less than the Standard would mean that second 
best is acceptable for the people in Wales. The Welsh 
Assembly Government therefore expects all social 
landlords in Wales to adopt the Standard and to devise 
realistic programmes for bringing all of their dwellings up 
to it by the end of 2012. 

As part of the ‘One Wales’ agenda, the Welsh Assembly 
Government will keep the WHQS under review. Where, 
having secured the agreement of their local populations, 
individual local authorities put forward a case for compliance 
with the WHQS to be achieved through an extended 
compliance timetable, and where applications are backed by 
a robust business plan, the Assembly Government will 
consider such applications on their individual merits. 

Guidance for social landlords on the assessment process 
and achievement of the Standard explains what social 
landlords will need to do in order to meet the Standard. A 
number of useful publications, as sources of good practice 
are listed in each section of the Good Practice Guidance. 

The guidance is intended to help social landlords interpret 
and implement the Welsh Assembly Government’s 
requirements in relation to the physical standards of their 
existing dwellings and their improvement. 

Whilst the Standard and minimum requirements remain 
constant, the guidance document may evolve over time to 
include more examples of good practice and illustrations 
to guide interpretation. 

4 

Page 71



THE WELSH HOUSING QUALITY STANDARD 

Understanding 
Minimum Requirements 3.0 
The Standard will ensure that dwellings 
are of good quality and suitable for the 
needs of existing and future residents. It is 
recognised that it will not be 
economically or practically feasible to 
bring all existing dwellings up to the 
standard expected in a modern dwelling. 

Minimum Requirements which develop the Standard in 
greater detail are considered to be an acceptable 
minimum. Each element of the Standard has been 
categorised as either a Primary or Secondary element: 

� a Primary element is one that impacts on the safety 
of the residents 

� a Secondary element is more focussed around the 
comfort of the residents 

The requirements are not intended to be exhaustive and 
social landlords should always consider whether they are 
satisfied that the best possible solution has been 
achieved. 

5 

Page 72



4.0	 THE MILESTONES 

The Milestones 4.0 
Social landlords are expected to carry out 
an assessment of the stock in relation to 
the Standard, analyse the information, 
and plan the management of their 
property assets as part of their normal 
business and financial planning. 

This will ensure that landlords are aware of the work 
required to meet the Standard, their future liabilities, when 
dwellings and their components are forecast to be 
replaced and when funds need to be in place to meet 
these liabilities. 

In developing programmes, social landlords should take 
account of the views and aspirations of residents. However, 
in doing so, social landlords should not raise their residents’ 
concerns unnecessarily about the future of their homes. 
The programme should be the product of dialogue and 
mutual understanding through the development of 
initiatives such as the Wales Programme for Improvement 
and Tenant and Resident Participation Compacts. 

Social landlords should plan to integrate their various 
policies and strategies for responsive and planned 
maintenance, estate improvements, improving energy 
efficiency, void management and relet works. The 
outcome of this will determine the corporate targets and 
objectives within the overall framework of the Standard 
and be a key factor in the business planning process. This 
will lead to the development of an improvement 
programme that takes into account the views of their 
tenants, but should, in the main, set priorities on the basis 
of tackling the worst dwellings first. 

The following are elements or ‘Milestones’ of the social 
landlord’s programme to meet the Welsh Housing Quality 
Standard by the end of 2012. 

By the end of 2002, landlords should have: 

� established the current state of their housing 
stock relative to the Standard based on best 
available information 

� estimated the investment needs to achieve the Standard 

� assessed the work programmes necessary to meet 
the Standard 

By the end of 2006: 

� landlords should have gathered comprehensive 
information on the whole of their housing stock. 
Gathering data on stock condition is a priority to 
inform and enable the assessment process. Further 
information on undertaking stock condition surveys 
can be found in section five 

By the end of 2007 landlords should have: 

� completed their tenant consultation on the draft 
programme 

� finalised and implemented a programme for the 
repair and improvement of the stock 

� updated the Business Plan to include the tenant 
consultation results and the repair and improvement 
programme 

By the end of 2012 landlords should have: 

� reviewed and monitored the programme as a part of 
the business planning process 

� confirmed that all of their housing stock meets 
the Standard 

6 

Page 73



THE WELSH HOUSING QUALITY STANDARD 

What social landlords need 
to do to meet the Milestones 5.0 
Complete tenant consultation on the 
draft programme 

The Welsh Assembly Government recognises that to 
foster pride, belonging and ‘ownership’, tenants and 
residents should be encouraged to take the opportunity 
to be involved in making any decisions that affect their 
community and environment. 

The precise process social landlords should go through to 
put together their programme for repairs and 
improvements is a matter for the individual landlord, but 
it must include tenant consultation. 

Social landlords should develop a draft programme after 
the analysis of data on current standards and condition, 
estimated costs, financing requirements and an established 
set of priorities. The Welsh Assembly Government will 
expect the social landlord to consult with, and show its 
tenants how it has arrived at its draft programme, the 
choices made and how the views and priorities of their 
tenants have influenced the agreed final programme. 

The Welsh Assembly Government would like to see 
consultation on a local level, but does not wish to over 
prescribe the process a social landlord should follow to 
achieve this. However, the joint development and update 
of Tenant Participation Compacts by landlords and their 
tenants could provide the appropriate mechanism. 

Tenants should be offered the opportunity to take part in all 
project groups, set up by their landlord, working on assessing, 
implementing and monitoring progress towards achieving the 
Standard. Such groups should include those dealing with 
strategic issues such as strategy and business planning, right 
through to those groups deciding on the specification of 
components and appointment of contract partners. 

Tenants should have equal status with every other 
participant and should share in agenda setting and 
decision making. Tenant representation should reflect the 
diversity of the communities in which they live. 

The variety of methods used to elicit information from 
tenants on their views could include, but should not be 
confined to tenant’s representation on project groups, a 
tenant aspirations survey, tenant focus groups, tenant 
forum and consultation with local tenant associations. 

Tenants’ views should be asked for on a variety of topics 
including current service levels, current investment, 
planned investment and management of their homes. If 
current or expected future resources are insufficient to 
meet legal requirements and the Standard, they should 
also be consulted on future management and ownership 
options, which would allow the landlord to meet legal 
requirements and the Standard. Should they wish to 
achieve higher tenant aspirations, then they should be 
consulted on the investment, management and 
ownership options which would allow their landlord to 
achieve that higher standard. 

Finalise and implement a programme 
for the repair and improvement of 
the stock 

Following the consultation exercise, the landlord should 
prepare a draft implementation programme which sets 
objectives that take into account such matters as stock 
profile, location, tenants’ views, physical constraints of the 
buildings, changing demographics, demand, financial 
constraints and its overall Business Plan. It is also important 
that the programme reflects local authorities’ housing 
strategies and other relevant strategies for the reduction of 
crime, improvement of health, reduction of poverty, and 
increase in employment and training opportunities etc. 

If there are dwellings where compliance with the 
Standard cannot reasonably be achieved, these should be 
identified with the reason highlighted. It is suggested that 
landlord assessment and reporting systems need to 
include the ability to monitor and report on individual 
dwellings which can be categorised in the following 
terms: ‘Pass’ or ‘Fail’. 

When assessing individual elements of the Standard it may 
be appropriate to assess individual elements which do not 
fit into Pass or Fail as ‘Not Applicable’ or as ‘Acceptable 
Fail’. Further information on individual element assessment 
is located in Section eight  Assessment. 

Undertaking improvements which fall short of the 
Standard, setting aside and securing of void dwellings 
(mothballing) and disposal of dwellings are amongst 
options that can be considered. From the analysis it 
should be possible to produce a list of work required to: 

7 

Page 74



5.0	 WHAT SOCIAL LANDLORDS NEED TO DO TO MEET THE MILESTONES 

5.0 
� improve the standard and condition of individual 

dwellings 

� undertake major improvement works to groups of 
dwellings or estates 

� enable the landlord to estimate the cost associated 
with these works 

It will assist in the programme planning process if lifecycle 
renewal of components, stock, improvements and the 
different costs associated are kept separate. This will help 
to identify the different ways in which they will be funded. 

Update the Business Plan to include 
the tenant consultation results and the 
repair and improvement programme 

The programme for repairs and improvements and the 
process leading up to it should be published and show 
the stages the landlord has gone through, highlighting 
the choices that have been made along the way and the 
rationale behind them. The programme should set out the 
priorities for the various items of work with a forecast of 
finance required and sources of finance available. 

The programme will also need to be clear how it will be 
implemented and at what stages it will be reviewed. 

The programme is unlikely to remain static. Examples of 
factors influencing the development and implementation 
of the programme could include: 

� changes to statutory requirements, e.g. Building 
Regulations and other environmental standards 

� new technologies 

� people’s changing needs and expectations of the 
standards of their homes 

� the landlord’s progress on implementing their 
strategy 

� unforeseen major repairs 

� changing government policy 

� demographic changes 

� changing housing needs and community 
sustainability 

The Welsh Assembly Government will expect to see that 
landlords have provided information and consulted 
residents on the detail of the programme of works to 
their dwellings. Landlords will also be expected to take 
account of the needs of disabled residents and residents 
from black and minority ethnic communities in relation to 
bespoke adaptations when preparing its programme of 
improvement works. 

By the end of 2012: 

Review and monitor the programme as 
part of the business planning process 

The landlord’s programme for repairs and improvements 
must be dynamic and responsive to changes. The 
programme must be reviewed annually or at such times as 
following an update of stock information and condition 
data, but must be based on the principle that all social 
housing stock meets the Standard by the end of 2012. 

It is accepted that landlords have different recording 
systems and information technology to deliver reports and 
there is currently no single approach provided by the 
Welsh Assembly Government on reporting progress 
towards meeting the Standard that can be adopted. 
However, some guidance and the resources currently 
available are highlighted below. 

A Microsoft Excel toolkit has been designed to help 
landlords demonstrate their intentions and plans to the 
Welsh Assembly Government and report progress towards 
the Standard via Business Plans. The Welsh Housing 
Quality Standard Toolkit can be accessed from the 
following link: http://new.wales.gov.uk/topics/housing 
andcommunity/housing/social/whqs/toolkit/?lang=en 

The annual works programme should be published and 
made easily available to residents so that they can see 
what will be happening to which dwellings during the 
year. If feasible and expected future resources are 
sufficiently well known, then the landlord should publish a 
forward programme which sets out planned investment in 
years beyond the next financial year e.g. a five year plan. 

8 

Page 75

http://new.wales.gov.uk/topics/housing


THE WELSH HOUSING QUALITY STANDARD 

Glossary 6.0 
Dwelling 

A dwelling is any form of accommodation owned by the 
landlord and provided in return for rent to residents and 
which is used for human habitation, or intended or 
available for such use. It includes: 

� a “house”, whether it is detached, semidetached or 
terraced 

� a “flat”, “maisonette” or “apartment”; that is a self
contained dwelling on one or more floors in a 
building containing other dwellings 

� a “bedsit”, or “flat”, and which is not self
contained. For example some facilities such as a bath 
or showerroom, or kitchen may be shared 

Included as part of the dwelling are gardens and 
outbuildings for use with that dwelling. Gardens should 
be considered to be any outside space associated with the 
dwelling plot. In addition rights of way, paths, yards, 
easements, and common or shared parts and services 
necessary for the occupation and use of the dwelling, are 
included unless otherwise stated in the interpretation of 
an element. 

Where the dwelling is a flat, maisonette or bedsit, as well 
as including those means of access, amenities and 
services, the dwelling also includes any rooms, 
passageways, circulation areas, and facilities that are 
shared or used in common with others. 

Garden 

A garden is an area associated with the dwelling that may 
consist of a hard and/or soft landscaped area. This area 
will be for use by the residents of the dwelling but will 
not normally be a shared area. 

Household Health and Safety Rating 
System (HHSRS) 

HHSRS assesses twenty nine categories of housing hazard, 
including factors which were not covered or were covered 
inadequately by the previous Fitness Standard. It provides 
a rating for each hazard. It does not provide a single 
rating for the dwelling as a whole or, in the case of 
multiply occupied dwellings, for the building as a whole. 
A hazard rating is expressed though a numerical score 
which falls within a band. There are 10 bands. Scores in 
Bands A to C are Category 1 Hazards. Scores in Bands D 
to J are Category 2 Hazards. 

HHSRS provides a means of identifying faults in dwellings 
and the potential impact of those faults on the health and 
safety of the occupants. It also provides a means of 
grading the sensitivity of dangers that may be present in 
dwellings and differentiating the sensitivity of those 
dangers and the extent of any risk to the resident. 

As a minimum, the elements set out in the Minimum 
Requirements as being measured by HHSRS must be free 
from HHSRS Category 1 Hazard. Any element categorised 
with a HHSRS Category 1 Hazard would automatically 
result in the dwelling ‘Failing’ the Standard. 

The Housing Health and Safety Rating System Guidance 
for Landlords can by obtained from the Welsh Assembly 
Government website and is free to download 
http://new.wales.gov.uk/topics/housingandcommunity/ho 
using/publications/healthsafetyratingoperate?lang=en 

9 

Page 76

http://new.wales.gov.uk/topics/housingandcommunity/ho


6.0	 GLOSSARY 

6.0 
Good condition  free from deficiency 

This definition is taken from the Household Health and 
Safety Rating System (HHSRS). 

Deficiency: This is a failure of an element to meet the 
Ideal (The perceived optimum standard, at the time of the 
assessment, intended to prevent avoid or minimise the 
hazard). The failure could be inherent, such as a result of 
the original design, construction or manufacture, or it 
could be a result of deterioration, disrepair or a lack of 
repair or maintenance (HHSRS Operating Guidance ref: 
page 7). 

Primary and Secondary elements 

Each element of the Standard has been categorised as 
either a Primary or Secondary element. 

� A Primary element is one that impacts on the safety 
of the residents. 

� A Secondary element is more focussed around the 
comfort of the residents. 

See section eight  Assessment for further information. 

Tenants and residents and occupants 

These terms are used interchangeably in some places of 
the document depending on the context and influence of 
other documents and policy statements. The meanings of 
the word tenant and resident for the purposes of this 
guidance are the same. In addition, the term occupants is 
used specifically in reference to the Housing Health and 
Safety Rating Operating Guidance. 

10 

Page 77



THE WELSH HOUSING QUALITY STANDARD 

The Welsh Housing 
Quality Standard 7.1 
PART 1 

In a good state of repair 

The Standard 

The dwelling must be structurally stable, free from damp 
and from disrepair. The key building components must be 
in good condition. The walls must be in good condition as 
must the roof structure and coverings. External windows, 
doors and chimneys must also be in good condition. 

Minimum Requirement 

All dwellings must be in a good state of repair. The 
assessment of whether or not the dwelling is in a good 
state of repair will be carried out using the Housing 
Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS). 

Elements that will need to be assessed are: 

1(a)	 structurally stable and free from disrepair (Primary) 

1(b)	 free from damp (Primary) 

Interpretation 

The elements of section one will in part be assessed by 
landlords using the new Housing Health and Safety Rating 
System (HHSRS). 

1(a)	 Is the dwelling structurally stable and free 
from disrepair (Primary)? 

This is referred to in the HHSRS Operating Guidance as 
HHSRS Hazard 29. 

Key building components, which have an immediate 
impact on a dwelling’s integrity, must be in good condition 
by being free from fault, deficiency and not result in an 
HHSRS Category 1 Hazard. These components include: 

� external walls 

� roof structure(s) and covering(s) 

� external windows and doors 

� chimneys 

This hazard covers the threat of whole dwelling collapse, 
or of an element or a part of the fabric being displaced or 
falling because of inadequate fixing, disrepair, or as a 
result of adverse weather conditions. Structural failure 
may occur internally or externally within the curtilage 
threatening occupants, or externally outside the curtilage 
putting at risk members of the public (HHSRS Operating 
Guidance ref: pages 168171). 

All other building components that have a less immediate 
impact on the integrity of the dwelling must be in reasonable 
condition and have reasonable component life remaining. 

1(b)	 Is the dwelling free from damp (Primary)? 

This is referred to in the HHSRS Operating Guidance as 
HHSRS Hazard 1. This hazard assessment covers threats to 
health associated with increased prevalence of house dust 
mites and mould or fungal growths resulting from 
dampness and/or high humidities. The hazard 
incorporates threats to mental health and social well
being which may be caused by living with the presence of 
damp, damp staining and/or mould growth. 

There are many variables to understanding the causes, 
likely impact and potential hazards relating to the 
dwelling being free from damp, which means that the 
assessment should be one of professional judgement 
rather than measurement. Consideration should be given 
to the design, condition and state of repair of the 
dwelling. The location, extent and duration of any 
dampness identified are important determinants of the 
effect it may have on dust mite populations and mould 
growth, and the consequent potential for harm (HHSRS 
Operating Guidance ref: pages 4853). 

11 

Page 78



7.0 THE WELSH HOUSING QUALITY STANDARD 

7.2 
PART 2 

Safe and secure 

The Standard 

Staircases are a frequent source of accidental injury, 
particularly to elderly people and young children and every 
opportunity must be taken to improve safety. There is a 
high risk of accidents in kitchens and bathrooms that can 
be reduced by careful consideration and improvement of 
the layout. 

Fire can cause death or serious injury and every opportunity 
must be taken to improve existing installations to ensure 
easy escape routes and sufficient fire alarms are provided. 

Electrical and gas installations in poor condition are a 
frequent cause of injury. Inadequate and poorly located 
outlets can be inconvenient and dangerous. Inadequate 
heating installations can cause discomfort and be 
detrimental to good health. All opportunities must be taken 
to modernise existing installations and ensure they are safe. 

An inadequate level of security increases the fear of crime 
and makes people feel insecure in their own dwellings. All 
dwellings must provide tenants with a reasonable level of 
physical security and every opportunity to improve the 
physical security through the provision of locks and other 
hardware should be taken. 

Poorly enclosed and laid out gardens may be unsafe and 
inconvenient for the occupants. All opportunities must be 
taken to make gardens safe and suitable for young 
children to play in, convenient to use, easy to maintain and 
reasonably private. 

Minimum Requirement 

Stairs and landings 

2(a)	 Stairs must have at least one handrail and not be 
considered hazardous (Primary). 

Kitchens and bathrooms 

2(b)	 The kitchen should have adequate space for 
appliances (Secondary). 

2(c)	 The kitchen should be a well organised working area 
with adequate work surfaces for resting pans and 
food preparation (Secondary). 

2(d)	 The kitchen should have sufficient storage to meet 
the needs of the residents (Secondary). 

2(e)	 The kitchen should have sufficient and conveniently 
located power sockets (Secondary). 

2(f)	 The dwelling should have flooring suitably designed 
for kitchens and bathrooms, and, where necessary, 
flooring suitable for use in wet areas (Secondary). 

Fire escape 

2(g)	 The dwelling should have an external fire escape 
(Secondary). 

2(h)	 The dwelling must have adequate fire alarms and 
equipment (Primary). 

2(i)	 The dwelling should have an escape route from the 
rooms used for sleeping to an external door which 
does not pass through another room (Secondary). 

2(j)	 The dwelling must have a suitably located, mains 
powered, smoke alarm (with a back up secondary 
power source such as a sealed lithium battery) on 
each floor (Primary). 

2(k)	 The dwelling should not have windows fitted with 
locks with an automatic locking action in rooms 
used for sleeping. (Secondary). 

Electrical installations, heating installations 
and appliances 

2(l)	 The gas, solid fuel or oil service and safety inspection 
certificate must be current. All heating installations 
and appliances must be checked and certified safe 
by an appropriately qualified person at least annually 
and as required by law (Primary). 

2(m)	 Electrical lighting and power installations must be 
checked and certified safe by an appropriately 
qualified person at least every 10 years as a 
minimum (Primary). 

12


Page 79



Security 

2(n)	 The dwelling must have a reasonable level of 
physical security (Primary). 

Outside the dwelling 

2(o)	 All opportunities must be taken to make gardens 
safe and suitable for young children to play in, easy 
to maintain and reasonably private (Primary). 

Interpretation 

2(a)	 Is the staircase and balustrade safe (Primary)? 

This is referred to in the HHSRS Operating Guidance as 
HHSRS Hazard 21. 

Staircases and balustrade must be free from deficiency and 
be free from HHSRS Category 1 hazard. This is referred to 
in the HHSRS Operating Guidance as HHSRS Hazard 21 
(HHSRS Operating Guidance ref: pages 133  138). 

For example, a staircase must have at least one handrail 
and must not be considered hazardous. Where winders 
have been used or where the pitch is very steep, structural 
modification or replacement may be required. Where safety 
can be materially improved at modest cost (for example, by 
adding an extra handrail), this ought be considered. 

T h e r e a r e i n e x c e s s o f t w o m i l l i o n i n j u r i e s f r o m 
a c c i d e n t s i n t h e h o m e e a c h y e a r m a n y d u e t o t r i p s 
a n d f a l l s . D w e l l i n g s s h o u l d b e d e s i g n e d a n d 
m a i n t a i n e d t o r e d u c e t h e r i s k o f a c c i d e n t s a n d a l l 
o p p o r t u n i t i e s s h o u l d b e t a k e n b y l a n d l o r d s t o 
i m p r o v e b u i l d i n g r e l a t e d s a f e t y. 

T h e B u i l d i n g R e s e a r c h E s t a b l i s h m e n t C e n t r e f o r 
S a f e t y H e a l t h a n d E n v i r o n m e n t p u b l i s h a D i g e s t ( 4 5 8 ) 
‘ S a f e a s H o u s e s ’ t h a t p r o v i d e s a u s e f u l c h e c k l i s t : 
w w w. b r e . c o . u k 

For good practice reference: safety in the home 

THE WELSH HOUSING QUALITY STANDARD 

7.2 
2(b)	 Is there adequate space for kitchen appliances 

(Secondary)? 

Kitchens should have 600mm wide spaces for a cooker 
and a refrigerator and enough clear space in front of the 
cooker and other units and appliances to operate safely 
(1200mm in front of the cooker, otherwise 1000mm). 

Kitchens should be sensibly and logically laid out with a 
minimum walking distance between major working areas. 
To plan a practical kitchen, employ the ‘Work Triangle’. 
The ‘Work Triangle ’ is formed by putting units and 
appliances, with appropriate work surfaces, in such a 
position as to allow the user to work in a logical sequence 
through the major work areas (food storage, preparation, 
washing/cleaning, cooking and serving). Ideally the length 
of the three sides of the triangle, when added together 
ought to be between 3600mm and 6600mm. 

The space for a refrigerator can be located in a utility area. 

2(c)	 Is the work surface sufficient for safe food 
preparation (Secondary)? 

Kitchens should have an adequate work surface for safe 
and convenient food preparation. Additionally, the work 
surface should be permanent, non porous and a minimum 
of 500mm deep, 800mm along the front edge if straight 
or 1000mm if ‘L’ shaped. 

2(d)	 Is the cupboard storage convenient and 
adequate (Secondary)? 

Kitchens should have convenient and adequate storage 
cupboards for food, crockery and pots and pans. This 
should be 1.1m 3 in a two person dwelling, increasing by 
0.2m 3 for each additional person as determined by 
Nominal Occupancy referred to in Part 7 of this section. 

2(e)	 Is the number of convenient power sockets in 
the kitchen sufficient (Secondary)? 

Kitchens should have at least one convenient power 
socket close to the main food preparation worktop in 
addition to that used for the refrigerator. 

13


Page 80



7.0 THE WELSH HOUSING QUALITY STANDARD 

7.2 
2(f)	 Is the flooring in the kitchen and bathroom safe 

and suitable for use (Secondary)? 

Kitchens and bathrooms should have flooring that is safe 
and suitable for use in these rooms. Where necessary 
flooring should be safe and suitable for use in wet areas. 
Untextured linoleum or vinyl is not suitable. 

W h e n p l a n n i n g a n e w b a t h r o o m , s a f e t y w i t h i n t h e 
b a t h r o o m e n v i r o n m e n t i s a n i m p o r t a n t c o n s i d e r a t i o n . 
D u e t o t h e c l o s e p r o x i m i t y o f w a t e r, h e a t a n d 
e l e c t r i c i t y t h e r e a r e a n u m b e r o f s a f e t y h a z a r d s t h a t 
n e e d t o b e c o n s i d e r e d . 

B a t h r o o m s a r e q u i t e o f t e n s m a l l r o o m s w i t h c o n f i n e d 
s p a c e ; c a r e f u l p l a n n i n g a n d t h e i n s t a l l a t i o n o f h e l p f u l 
s a f e t y f e a t u r e s c a n h e l p t o d i m i n i s h t h e r i s k o f 
a c c i d e n t s o c c u r r i n g , f o r e x a m p l e : 

� w a t e r a n d c o n d e n s a t i o n c a u s e s l i p p e r y s u r f a c e s . 
T h e i n s t a l l a t i o n o f n o n s l i p m a t s o r s u r f a c e s 
i n s i d e t h e b a t h , t o g e t h e r w i t h t h e f i t t i n g o f g r a b 
r a i l s a t s u i t a b l e p o s i t i o n s c o u l d r e d u c e t h e r i s k o f 
n a s t y f a l l s 

� h o t w a t e r c a n c a u s e b u r n s a n d t h e t e m p e r a t u r e 
o f t h e w a t e r s h o u l d b e c o n s i d e r e d c a r e f u l l y. 
C o n s i d e r w h e t h e r t h e r e w i l l b e a n y d r a m a t i c 
c h a n g e i n t e m p e r a t u r e s h o u l d o t h e r w a t e r 
a p p l i a n c e s b e u s e d a r o u n d t h e h o u s e 

� a l l l i g h t f i t t i n g s o p e r a t e d f r o m w i t h i n t h e 
b a t h r o o m s h o u l d b e f i t t e d w i t h a p u l l c o r d . I f a 
l i g h t s w i t c h i s u s e d , i t s h o u l d b e s i t u a t e d o u t s i d e 
t h e b a t h r o o m 

� a n y e l e c t r i c h e a t e r s s h o u l d b e f i t t e d w i t h f i x e d 
a n d p e r m a n e n t w i r i n g . E l e c t r i c h e a t e r s s h o u l d b e 
s i t u a t e d o u t o f r e a c h o f t h e b a t h 

For good practice reference: bathroom safety 

2(g)	 Is there an external fire escape (Secondary)? 

The dwelling should have an external fire escape where 
there is habitable space more than 7.5m above ground 
level and there is only one protected stairway or route, or 
comply with a Fire Officer’s alternative recommendations 
for an additional fire escape route. 

2(h)	 Are there adequate fire alarms and equipment 
(Primary)? 

Common areas of flats must have adequate fire alarms 
and equipment as defined in current Building Regulations 
Part B. 

2(i)	 Do rooms used for sleeping have escape routes 
not passing through another room (Secondary)? 

Dwellings should be easy to escape from by having an 
escape route from the rooms used for sleeping to an 
external door which may be via a landing and staircase to 
a front door, back door or fire escape. Rooms used for 
sleeping which cannot be normally exited except by 
passing through another room should be capable of 
providing an alternative means of escape as agreed with 
the Fire Officer. 

2(j)	 Are mains powered smoke detectors on each 
floor (Primary)? 

Dwellings must have a suitably located, mains powered 
(with a back up secondary power source such as a sealed 
lithium battery) smoke alarm on each floor. 

2(k)	 Are window locks without automatic locking 
action in rooms used for sleeping (Secondary)? 

Dwellings should not have windows fitted with window 
locks with an automatic locking action in rooms used for 
sleeping. This could pose an obstacle to escape. 

14


Page 81



THE WELSH HOUSING QUALITY STANDARD 

7.2 
2(l)	 Is the gas, solid fuel or oil service and safety 

certificate uptodate and have all heating 
installations and appliances been checked and 
certified safe by an appropriately qualified 
person as required by law (Primary)? 

Gas, solid fuel, oil heating installations and appliances 
must have a current safety certificate which has been 
issued by an appropriately qualified person. 

Additionally current regulations require landlords to ensure 
landlord supplied electric appliances are certified safe. The 
regulations impose the obligation on the supplier of such 
goods to ensure that they are 'safe ' so that there is no risk 
of injury or death to humans or pets, or risk of damage to 
property. The regulations cover all mains voltage 
household electric goods including cookers, kettles, 
toasters, electric blankets, washing machines, immersion 
heaters, etc. It is generally accepted good practice that 
landlords will inspect appliances: 

� when first supplied 

� annually 

� at the beginning of each new tenancy 

2(m) Have electrical lighting and power installations 
been checked and certified safe by an 
appropriately qualified person (Primary)? 

Electrical lighting, wiring and power installations should be 
checked and certified safe by an appropriately qualified 
person as required by law. 

The I n s tit u t i o n o f Ele ct r ic al E n g i n e er s re c omme n d s t h at 
el e c tri ca l i n s ta l l at i o n s b e i n s p ec te d a t l ea s t o n ce e v e ry 1 0 
y e a r s ( e v e ry fiv e y e ar s fo r House s i n Mult i p l e 
O c cupa t i o n ) o r a s re q u i red b y l a w. T h e L a n d l o rd a n d 
Te na n t Ac t 1 9 8 5 a l so re q u ires l a n d l o rd s t o e n s u re 
el e c t ri c inst a l la t i o ns are s a fe a t the be gi n n i n g of t h e 
te n a n c y. 

U n d e rp r o v i s i o n o f p o w e r s o c k e t s w i l l l e a d t o 
d a n g e r o u s o v e r l o a d i n g o f c i r c u i t s w i t h a d a p t e r s a n d 
e x c e s s i v e u s e o f t r a i l i n g f l e x e s a n d e x t e n s i o n l e a d s . 

T h e f o l l o w i n g i s t h e m i n i m u m p r o v i s i o n o f p o w e r 
s o c k e t s i n a n e w h o m e . W h e r e a h o m e i s b e i n g 
r e w i r e d i t i s r e c o m m e n d e d t h a t t h e m i n i m u m 
r e q u i r e m e n t s s e t o u t b e l o w a r e c o m p l i e d w i t h : 

Room Type Minimum No. of Sockets 

L i v i n g r o o m s 4 d o u b l e i n h o u s e s a n d 
i n f l a t s 

D i n i n g r o o m s 2 d o u b l e o r 1 d o u b l e i n t h e 
d i n i n g a r e a o f a k i t c h e n / 
d i n i n g r o o m 

D o u b l e a n d 3 d o u b l e 
t w i n b e d r o o m s 

S i n g l e b e d r o o m s 2 d o u b l e 

H a l l s a n d F u r t h e r s i n g l e s o c k e t s 
l a n d i n g s a r e r e q u i r e d 

For good practice reference: electrical 
installations, heating installations and appliances 

15


Page 82



7.0 THE WELSH HOUSING QUALITY STANDARD 

7.2 
2(n)	 Do external doors and windows give a 

reasonable level of physical security (Primary)? 

External doors and windows must have a reasonable level of 
physical security. A “reasonable level of security ” is defined 
as being capable of complying with Secured By Design (SBD), 
although may not necessarily have an SBD certificate. 

Where it is necessary to replace doors, windows or 
fencing, the replacements must comply with the Police 
Force’s ‘SBD specification and be certified as such. 

On replacement landlords should consider a ‘door set’ 
which complies with SBD. 

SBD is the Police initiative to encourage the adoption of 
crime prevention methods in new and existing housing 
and aims to achieve a good standard of security for both 
the dwelling and the surrounding environment. In 
summary the Secured By Design standard for new 
properties and the Secured By Design standard for 
refurbished properties (as agreed with the local Police 
Architectural Liaison Officer) would normally include: 

Doors 

� D o o r s a n d l o c k s c o m p l y i n g w i t h B S : PA S 2 3 1 : 
1 9 9 9 , B S : E N 1 3 0 3 : 1 9 9 8 , B S 3 6 2 1 : 1 9 9 8 , B S : PA S 
2 4 1 : 1 9 9 9 , L P S 1 1 7 5 : I s s u e 4 , 1 9 9 8 . 

� D o o r c h a i n s o r o p e n i n g l i m i t e r s , e x c e p t w a r d e n 
c o n t r o l l e d h o u s i n g w h i c h s h o u l d b e d i s c u s s e d w i t h 
t h e l o c a l P o l i c e A r c h i t e c t u r a l L i a i s o n O f f i c e r. 

� D o o r v i e w e r u n l e s s t h e d o o r i n c l u d e s u n o b s c u r e d 
g l a z i n g . 

� A l e t t e r p l a t e l o c a t e d a t l e a s t 4 0 0 m m a w a y f r o m 
a n y l o c k s , o r i f n o t p o s s i b l e a l e t t e r b o x a p e r t u r e t o 
B S 2 9 1 1 / 1 9 7 4 ( 1 9 8 0 ) , o r i f n o t p o s s i b l e a n o t h e r 
m e a s u r e p r e v e n t i n g a c c e s s t o d o o r l o c k s v i a t h e 
l e t t e r p l a t e . 

� G l a z e d p a n e l s , a d j a c e n t t o e x t e r n a l d o o r s , m u s t b e 
l a m i n a t e d ( o u t e r p a n e ) t o a m i n i m u m o f 6 . 4 m m a n d 
s e c u re l y f i x e d i n a c c o rd a n c e w i t h G G F g u i d e l i n e s . 

� D o o r f r a m e s s h o u l d b e s e c u r e l y f i x e d t o t h e 
s t r u c t u r e o f t h e b u i l d i n g a t m a x i m u m 6 0 0 m m 
c e n t r e s a n d 3 0 0 m m f r o m e a c h c o r n e r. 

� R e c e s s e d d o o r s i n e x c e s s o f 6 0 0 m m s h o u l d 
b e a v o i d e d . 

S e c u r e d B y D e s i g n : S t a n d a r d s a n d Te s t i n g : D o o r s & 
L o c k s ( h t t p : / / w w w. s e c u r e d b y d e s i g n . c o m / s t a n d a r d s / 
d o o r s l o c k s . a s p x ) 

Communal entrance doors 

� C o m m u n a l e n t r a n c e d o o r s , s h o u l d i n a d d i t i o n , 
h a v e a n a u t o m a t i c c l o s i n g a n d b e f i t t e d w i t h a n 
a u t o m a t i c d e a d l o c k i n g l o c k , w i t h a n i n t e r n a l 
t h u m b t u r n , k n o b o r h a n d l e . E x t e r n a l e n t r y m u s t 
b e b y l a t c h w i t h d r a w a l b y u s e o f t h e k e y, n o t b y 
l e v e r. O n o u t w a r d o p e n i n g d o o r ’s h i n g e s s h o u l d b e 
p r o t e c t e d b y h i n g e b o l t s o r s i m i l a r. 

� W h e r e f o u r o r m o r e f l a t s a r e s e r v e d b y a c o m m o n 
e n t r a n c e t h e d o o r s m u s t b e f i t t e d w i t h a n a c c e s s 
c o n t r o l s y s t e m , w i t h a n e l e c t r o n i c l o c k r e l e a s e a n d 
e n t r y p h o n e l i n k e d t o t h e f l a t s . 

� W h e r e n i n e o r m o r e f l a t s a r e s e r v e d b y a c o m m o n 
e n t r a n c e c o n s i d e r a t i o n m u s t b e g i v e n t o t h e u s e o f 
C C T V, f o r f a c i a l i d e n t i f i c a t i o n , t o b e u s e d i n 
c o n j u n c t i o n w i t h t h e u n i t a c c e s s c o n t r o l r e l e a s e o r 
c o n c i e r g e s y s t e m . 

For good practice reference: security 

16


Page 83



Windows 

� W i n d o w s c o m p l y i n g w i t h B S : 7 9 5 0 , B S 4 8 7 3 : 1 9 8 6 , 
B S 7 4 1 2 : 1 9 9 1 , B S 6 4 4 1 : 1 9 8 9 , B W F : T WA S , B S 
6 5 1 0 : 1 9 8 4 , L P S 1 1 7 5 : I s s u e 4 , 1 9 9 8 . 

� G r o u n d f l o o r w i n d o w s a n d t h o s e t h a t a r e e a s i l y 
a c c e s s i b l e t o e n t r y m u s t h a v e k e y o p e r a t e d l o c k s . 
W h e r e n e c e s s a r y, o p e n i n g r e s t r i c t o r s o r s i m i l a r 
b u i l t i n m e c h a n i s m s w i l l b e r e q u i r e d . W h e r e 
w i n d o w s a r e r e q u i r e d u n d e r t h e B u i l d i n g 
R e g u l a t i o n s t o a c t a s a f i r e e s c a p e r o u t e , t h e 
o p e n i n g w i n d o w m u s t n o t h a v e k e y o p e r a t e d 
l o c k s . I n t h e s e c i r c u m s t a n c e s g l a z i n g m u s t b e 
l a m i n a t e d t o 6 . 4 m m m i n i m u m t h i c k n e s s . 

S e c u r e d B y D e s i g n : S t a n d a r d s a n d Te s t i n g : W i n d o w s 
( h t t p : / / w w w. s e c u r e d b y d e s i g n . c o m / s t a n d a r d s / w i n d o w s . 
a s p x ) 

Security lighting 

� S e c u r i t y l i g h t i n g s h o u l d b e d e s i g n e d t o c o v e r a l l 
e x t e r n a l d o o r s a n d o t h e r v u l n e r a b l e a r e a s , s u c h a s 
r e a r g a r d e n , c o n t r o l l e d b y p h o t o e l e c t r i c c e l l , a 
t i m e s w i t c h o r p a s s i v e i n f r a r e d d e t e c t o r. L o w 
c o n s u m p t i o n l a m p s s h o u l d b e u s e d a n d p o s i t i o n e d 
t o r e d u c e g l a r e , l i g h t p o l l u t i o n a n d p o s s i b l e a t t a c k . 
S i m i l a r p r o v i s i o n s a r e r e q u i r e d t o l i g h t c o m m o n 
e n t r a n c e s , c o r r i d o r s t o f l a t s / m a i s o n e t t e s  p r e s s 
b u t t o n t i m e s w i t c h e s a r e n o t r e c o m m e n d e d . 

Intruder alarms 

� I n t r u d e r a l a r m s  a 1 3 a m p n o n s w i t c h e d f u s e d 
s p u r s h o u l d b e i n s t a l l e d . I f t h e l a n d l o r d c h o o s e s t o 
i n s t a l l a n a l a r m i t s h o u l d b e i n a c c o r d a n c e w i t h 
B S 4 7 3 7 ( w i r e d s y s t e m ) o r B S 6 7 9 9 ( w i r e l e s s 
s y s t e m ) . A l l i n s t a l l a t i o n s s h o u l d c o m p l y w i t h t h e 
c u r r e n t e l e c t r i c a l r e g u l a t i o n s . 

For good practice reference: security continued 

2(o)	 Is the rear garden easy to maintain, reasonably 
private, safe and suitable for young children to 
play in (Primary)? 

The rear garden must be easy to maintain. This should be 
assessed in relation to the intended occupants and will 
consider issues such as: 

� poor design 

� space constraints 

� steep topography 

The rear garden must be reasonably private. For example: 

� landlords must ensure gardens have proper/secure 
boundaries. Secured By Design guidance advises that 
easy access to the back and sides of the dwelling can 
be prevented by the provision of locked gates. The 
use of post and wire fences, low level shrubs or walls 
is not considered suitable. Trellis topping also makes 
climbing difficult and will add security. 

THE WELSH HOUSING QUALITY STANDARD 

7.2 

The rear garden must be safe and suitable for young 
children to play in. This also includes allowing supervision 
from the dwelling. Issues that may be considered in 
relation to this element are: 

� boundaries should be suitable to prevent children 
leaving the garden and should not encourage climbing 

� if the garden is on an incline, the landlord must 
ensure that the retaining walls are structurally stable 
and have an appropriate guard rail/balustrade 

� ensure pathways are even and unobstructed 

Landlords will have to assess each garden individually 
and where possible undertake improvement works 
despite constraints. 

17


Page 84



7.0 THE WELSH HOUSING QUALITY STANDARD 

7.3 
PART 3 

Adequately heated, fuel 
efficient and well insulated 

The Standard 

All dwellings must be capable of being adequately heated 
at an affordable cost to the residents. Dwellings with 
inadequate heating cause discomfort and can pose a 
health risk. 

Whether the dwelling can be adequately heated depends 
on the cost of providing the heat required and the ability 
of the resident to afford it. The eradication of fuel 
poverty, the inability to afford to heat one’s dwelling, is a 
strategic priority for the Welsh Assembly Government as 
set out in ‘Better Homes for People in Wales’. 

Landlords need to consider whether or not a dwelling is 
deemed to be adequately heated, fuel efficient and well 
insulated. 

Meeting the cost of heating bills can be difficult for many 
residents. Landlords should do whatever they reasonably 
can to minimise the cost of heating dwellings to a 
comfortable level. 

Minimum Requirement 

3(a)	 Heating systems must be reasonably economical to 
run and capable of heating the whole of the 
dwelling to a comfortable level in normal weather 
conditions (Primary). 

3(b)	 External doors and windows must be sufficiently 
well fitting so that they do not cause severe 
draughts (Primary). 

3(c)	 The main entrance door should not open directly 
into the living room (Secondary). 

3(d)	 The hot water tank must be effectively insulated 
(Primary). 

3(e)	 Kitchens and bathrooms should have an adequate 
amount of mechanical ventilation (Secondary). 

Interpretation 

3(a)	 Is the heating system reasonably economical 
and capable of heating the dwelling to a 
reasonable level (Primary)? 

Existing heating systems must be reasonably economic to 
run. A "reasonably economic to run" heating system 
would be one that is programmable (i.e. residents can 
control the temperature and timing), and of a size 
recommended for the dwelling it serves. 

The annual energy consumption for space and water 
heating must be estimated using the Government’s 
Standard Assessment Procedure for Energy Rating of 
Dwellings 2005 (SAP 2005) method. A minimum rating of 
65 out of 100 must be achieved. For further information 
on SAP 2005 and calculating the energy performance of 
dwellings go to: www.projects.bre.co.uk/SAP2005. 

Lack of adequate ventilation and poor thermal 
performance of external walls and windows, in addition 
to inadequate background heating levels, are significant 
contributors to condensation in older dwellings. Of 
particular concern are kitchens and bathrooms in which 
large amounts of moisture are generated. All cost 
effective opportunities to upgrade the thermal and 
ventilation performance of the dwelling must be taken. 

18


Page 85



Other factors that will impact on the overall SAP for the 
energy rating of a dwelling are as follows. 

� Loft insulation 

It is recommended that at least 200 mm of glass 
wool insulation, or the thermal equivalent, is 
provided in the loft. Whenever replacing or topping 
up existing insulation this thickness could be reduced 
when using materials with greater insulation, such as 
thermal quilting. 

� Ensuring that all the pipes and tanks in the roof 
space are lagged 

All pipes and tanks in the roof space should be 
lagged. 20 25mm is the minimum thickness of pipe 
insulation that should be used. There are two types 
of insulation. The preferred industry type is pre 
formed foam cylinders that are split along their 
length so that they can be easily slipped onto the 
pipe. Insulating tape is used to seal the splits and join 
the sections. If using the pre formed cylinders is not 
practical, then felt can be used. This should be 
double thickness and closely wrapped to the pipe. 

� Ensuring that the thermal performance of the 
external walls is adequate to avoid the likelihood of 
condensation 

All necessary steps should be taken to ensure the 
thermal performance of external walls is adequate to 
avoid the likelihood of condensation. 

3(b)	 Are external doors and windows adequately 
draught proofed (Primary)? 

External doors and windows must be sufficiently well 
fitting so that they do not cause severe draughts without 
reducing background ventilation. Additional draught 
stripping may be considered adequate. 

THE WELSH HOUSING QUALITY STANDARD 

7.3 
3(c)	 Is the living room separated from the main 

entrance door (Secondary)? 

The main entrance door should not open directly into the 
living room. The provision of a lobby area in a living room 
entered directly by the front door will cut down on 
unnecessary heat loss. 

3(d)	 Is the hot water tank effectively insulated 
(Primary)? 

The hot water tank must be effectively insulated. A 
factory foam jacket would be considered adequate. 
Existing unlagged hot water tanks should have a jacket 
fitted. This should cut heat loss by around 75%. If there is 
already a jacket fitted to the hot water tank, it should be 
at least 75mm (3”) thick. If not, it should be replaced with 
a new heat saving one. 

3(e)	 Is there adequate mechanical extract 
ventilation in the kitchen and bathroom? 
(Secondary)? 

There should be adequate mechanical extract ventilation 
in the kitchen and bathroom to minimise condensation. 

E m e r g i n g b e s t p r a c t i c e i n f o r m a t i o n o n h e a t i n g 
t h e r m a l i n s u l a t i o n a n d v e n t i l a t i o n i s a v a i l a b l e a t : 
w w w. e n e r g y s a v i n g t r u s t . o r g . u k 

For good practice reference: energy performance 
and insulation 

19


Page 86



7.0	 THE WELSH HOUSING QUALITY STANDARD 

7.4 
PART 4 

Contain up to date kitchens 
and bathrooms 

The Standard 

All dwellings must have reasonably modern facilities, 
services and amenities. 

There must be adequate facilities for preparing, cooking 
and storing food. 

The kitchen must be 15 years old or less, unless in good 
condition and meet the safety, space and layout criteria, 
designed in accordance with Minimum Requirements. 

All dwellings must have bathroom and WC facilities which 
are 25 years old or less, unless in good condition and 
include fittings as stated in Minimum Requirements. 

Minimum Requirement 

Kitchens 

4(a)	 The dwelling must have a kitchen 15 years old or 
less unless it is in good condition (Primary). 

Washing and drying clothes 

4(b)	 The dwelling should have adequate facilities for 
washing, drying and airing clothes (Secondary). 

Bathroom and WC facilities 

4(c)	 The bathroom and WC facilities must be 25 years 
old or less, unless it is in good condition (Primary). 

4(d)	 The dwelling must have a bathroom with a bath 
and shower which may be an over bath 
shower (Primary). 

Interpretation 

4(a)	 Is the kitchen 15 years old or less, unless in 
good condition (Primary)? 

All dwellings must have a reasonably modern kitchen 
which is free from deficiencies. Ideally the kitchen should 
be 15 years old or less. However, it is accepted that a 
kitchen may not need replacing if it is older than 15 years 
and it is in good condition. 

The areas for consideration in assessing whether or not a 
kitchen is free from deficiencies are also referred to as 
under HHSRS as potential Hazard 16. Guidance is given 
here to highlight key points for consideration and to 
illustrate the relationship between size, layout, design and 
cleanability. Landlords should read the HHSRS guidance in 
full. Landlords need to consider whether the kitchen 
meets the following criteria. 

Storage 

� Properly designed food storage facilities in a good 
state of repair and of adequate size for the 
household. 

� Space for fridge and freezer. 

� Sufficient power sockets. 

Preparation 

� A kitchen sink, with a separate supply of cold 
drinking and hot water for each household and a 
drainer to the sink. 

� A sufficient amount of impervious worktops with 
adjacent power sockets. 

� The sinks, drainers and worktops in a good state 
of repair. 

20


Page 87



Cooking 

� Provision for cooking including an oven and hob 
(where appropriate). 

� Where appropriate, adequately sized oven and/or 
hob having regard to the number and size of the 
(potential) household(s) and no disrepair to the oven 
and/or hob if provided. 

� Sufficient space for cooking facilities  an oven and/ 
or hob. 

Design, layout and state of repair 

� Kitchen facilities should be in a properly designed 
room or area, laid out so as to make safe and 
hygienic preparation and cooking of food easy, so 
reducing the risk of food poisoning and promoting 
safe practice. 

� Kitchens should be laid out so that they are easy to 
use, provide space for the equipment and provide 
storage. 

� In the interest of safety they should be designed in a 
‘u’ shape with no through route between doors. This 
will not always be possible in existing dwellings but 
to be safe and easy to work in, the aim should be to 
provide an unbroken sequence of worktop  cooker 
worktop  sink  worktop. 

� Kitchen floors should be even and easily cleanable 
and worktops should have cleanable impervious 
surfaces. There should be seals between a sink, a 
drainer, or a worktop and the adjacent wall surface. 

� Kitchen lighting should be adequate and ventilation 
should be appropriate. 

� HHSRS recognizes that deficiencies with space and 
crowding can increase the risks associated with a 
number of other hazards. Small kitchens also 
increase the risk of accidents. 

HHSRS Operating Guidance ref: pages (108 112) 

THE WELSH HOUSING QUALITY STANDARD 

7.4 
Good practice reference: kitchen layout and design 

The layouts in Appendix 1 show some typical

solutions for a 3 person flat and a 5 person house.

The following publication is recommended as a

source of good practice: BRE Housing Design

Handbook  Building Research Establishment (See

www.bre.co.uk).


In addition to the minimum standards detailed for existing 
kitchens, where it is necessary to create a new kitchen or 
to replace an existing one, it should wherever possible at 
reasonable cost, be designed to meet the standards of 
new dwellings ensuring in particular that: 

� there is a work surface each side of the sink bowl, 
one of which may be the sink drainer 

� there is a work surface each side of the cooker 

� the cooker is at least 100mm from a corner base unit 

� all work surfaces are at least 400mm long 

� at least one double power socket provided close to 
the main food preparation area 

� a food preparation area is provided between the sink 
bowl or drainer and the cooker must be at least 
800mm long measured along its front edge, 
preferably in a straight line, and, if it has to be 
arranged around a corner, one front edge must be at 
least 1000mm long 

In addition, a modern kitchen should be designed so that: 

� spaces at least 600mm wide are provided for a 
cooker and refrigerator. In most cases 600mm wide 
spaces will be required for a washing machine and 
for a tumble dryer 

� the cooker space is not in front of a window and 
cooker control units are offset to one side so that they 
can be used without reaching over the hob space 

21


Page 88



7.0	 THE WELSH HOUSING QUALITY STANDARD 

7.4 
� wall cupboards are positioned at least 150mm away 

from the cooker space and such that they can be 
used without reaching over the hob 

� people passing through do not have to enter “the 
work triangle”, an imaginary triangle formed by lines 
drawn between the cooker, sink and fridge positions 

� there are adequate and convenient storage 
cupboards for food, crockery and pots and pans. This 
should be 1.1m³ in a two person dwelling, increasing 
by 0.2m³ for each additional person as determined 
by Nominal Occupancy referred to in Part 7 

� there are enough convenient power sockets to avoid 
using multi way adaptors and trailing flexes (not less 
than three double sockets above worktop level in 
addition to those at fixed appliance positions) 

4(b)	 Are there adequate facilities for washing, 
drying and airing clothes (Secondary)? 

There should be adequate facilities for washing, drying 
and airing clothes, which include: 

� space, power and plumbing for a washing machine 

� provision for an external drying line 

� an airing cupboard 

These may be provided in communal laundry facilities e.g. 
in some sheltered housing schemes and multi storey flats. 

In the absence of provision for an external drying line, and 
no communal drying facilities, there should be provision 
for space, power and external venting for a 600mm wide 
tumble dryer. It should be positioned so that it can be 
vented directly to the outside air. These spaces will 
normally be in the kitchen, but may be in a utility area. 

In dwellings where a hot water tank is present, there 
should be a heated airing cupboard with at least 1m 2 of 
internal slatted shelving provided. 

4(c)	 Are the bathroom and WC facilities 25 years 
old or less, unless in good condition (Primary)? 

The dwelling must have a bathroom and WC which are 
free from deficiencies. Ideally these should be reasonably 
modern i.e. 25 years old or less. However, it is accepted 
that a bathroom may not need replacing if it is older than 
25 years and free from deficiencies. 

The minimum requirements set out for existing bathrooms 
are the same for replacement and new bathrooms and 
should be designed in accordance with the guidance set 
out below. 

This element is dealt with by HHSRS hazard 17. Guidance 
here is given to highlight key points for consideration and 
to illustrate the relationship between size, layout, design 
and cleanability. Landlords should read the HHSRS 
guidance in full. In terms of layout, the following factors 
should be considered when assess the condition of 
existing bathrooms. 

Space and layout 

� There should be a sufficient number of baths or 
showers and wash hand basins for the residents or 
potential residents. 

� Houses for six or more people should have a second 
WC with a wash hand basin. 

� Houses for eight or more people should have a 
second bathroom or shower room. 

� Bathrooms should not be more than one storey away 
from the bedrooms. 

� In dwellings with more than one bedroom it should 
be possible to reach the bathroom without passing 
through a bedroom. 

� To provide for adequate privacy for the user, each 
bath or shower should be sited in a bathroom and 
each WC should be sited in a bathroom or separate 
compartment provided with a lockable door. 

22


Page 89



THE WELSH HOUSING QUALITY STANDARD 

7.4 
� The WC should be provided in a naturally or 

artificially ventilated and lit bathroom or separate WC 
compartment and should not be open directly and 
immediately onto a space intended for the storage or 
preparation of food. 

� The washbasin should normally be located in or near 
the room containing the WC. The WC, wash basin and 
bath should be readily accessible at all times without 
unduly compromising the privacy of the occupants. 

Cleanability 

Where there are deficiencies with the facilities themselves, 
this clearly can increase the risk from this hazard. In terms 
of cleanability: 

� water closet basins should have a smooth and 
impervious surface (such as vitreous china) and be 
self cleansing 

� the internal surfaces of the sink should be smooth, 
impervious, and capable of being readily cleansed 
and maintained in a hygienic condition. Cracks, chips 
or other damage to the internal surface may prevent 
thorough cleansing 

� wall, ceiling and floor surfaces must be cleanable 

4(d) Is there a shower as well as a bath (Primary)? 

The dwelling must have a bath and shower, which may be 
an over bath shower. 

23


Page 90



7.0	 THE WELSH HOUSING QUALITY STANDARD 

7.5 
PART 5 

Well managed 
(for rented housing) 

The Standard 

Housing should be fairly, efficiently and well managed to 
address the needs of tenants as individuals and as part of 
a community. 

Minimum Requirement 

This element of the Standard is not relevant to the assessment 
process and future financial planning at this stage. 

Interpretation 

5(a)	 Is the dwelling fairly, efficiently and well 
managed? 

This element of the Standard is not relevant to the assessment 
process and future financial planning at this stage. 

All social landlords are subject to assessment of this 
element through existing policy and performance 
management frameworks: 

� RSL regulatory code of guidance 

� Local Authority National and Core performance 
indicators 

� RSL National Core performance indicators 

� Local Authority Wales Programme for Improvement 
(WPI) 

� other statutory statistical returns and performance 
indicators 

24


Page 91



PART 6 

Located in attractive and 
safe environments 

The Standard 

All dwellings should be located in an environment to 
which residents can relate and in which they can be 
proud to live. 

Minimum Requirement 

All opportunities should be taken to make improvements 
to the immediate environment (within the property 
boundary) of individual dwellings and to the general 
environment. 

Consultation with residents, results of tenant satisfaction 
surveys and external audits can be used to inform the process. 

6(a)	 All roads and footpaths should be accessible and 
provide safety (Secondary). 

6(b)	 There should be soft and hard landscaping 
(Secondary). 

6(c)	 Street lighting should be adequate (Secondary). 

6(d)	 There should be safe play areas for young children 
(Secondary). 

6(e)	 Communal areas should be practical and 
maintainable (Secondary). 

6(f)	 The dwelling should have a clearly defined 
boundary (Secondary). 

6(g)	 Utilities should be clearly identified (Secondary). 

6(h)	 Car parking should also be practically located and 
should be clearly visible to residents (Secondary). 

THE WELSH HOUSING QUALITY STANDARD 

7.6 
Interpretation 

The interpretation of this section is, as far as possible, 
consistent with the principles detailed in ‘Guidance on the 
Interpretation of the WHQS Environmental Standard’ 
published in June 2008. 

The ‘Guidance on the Interpretation of the WHQS 
Environmental Standard’ has been produced by TPAS 
Cymru and Groundwork Wales and is part of a suite of 
documents including: 

� Report on the Scope and Implementation of the 
Environmental Standard of WHQS 

� Case Studies of approaches to business planning and 
implementation of the environmental standard 

� Abstract from the Literature Review  Guidance on 
Environmental Improvements 

These documents are available from: 

www.tpascymru.org.uk or www.groundworkwales.org.uk 

Or contact: 

TPAS Cymru, Transport House, 1 Cathedral Rd., Cardiff 
CF11 9SD 

Tel: 02920 237303 

Groundwork Wales, Unit G5, The Willowford, Treforest 
Industrial Estate, Pontypridd, CF37 5YL 

Tel: 01443 844866 

25


Page 92



7.0	 THE WELSH HOUSING QUALITY STANDARD 

7.6 
6(a)	 Are roads and footpaths accessible, providing 

safety for residents, pedestrians and children 
(Secondary)? 

All landlord owned roads and footpaths should be 
accessible and provide safety for residents, pedestrians 
and children. This includes ensuring that: 

� main roads through residential areas are clear and 
well used 

� where it is desirable to limit access / use to residents 
and their legitimate visitors, features such as rumble 
strips, change of road surface (by colour or texture), 
pillars or narrowing of the carriageway may be 
appropriate 

� footpaths are wide enough to allow the passage of 
emergency vehicles 

� footpaths which give access to the rear of dwellings 
should have gates placed as near to the building line 
as possible, to the same height as the adjacent 
boundary fencing and be opened via a key operated 
robust lock but should not be easy to climb or 
remove from hinges 

� only grass or low ground cover is used as landscaping 
around footpaths 

� planting should be used within two metres either 
side of the footpath 

6(b)	 Is there soft and hard landscaping with 
planting in protected areas (Secondary)? 

All landlord owned areas should have hard and soft 
landscaping in protected areas. 

Landscaping should not impede the opportunity for 
natural surveillance and must avoid the creation of 
potential hiding places. 

6(c)	 Is there adequate street lighting (Secondary)? 

All landlord owned street lighting should be adequate and 
comply with BS 5489 unless prohibited by statute e.g. in 
conservation areas, in which case individual requirements 
should be discussed with the Police Architectural Liaison 
Officer and Local Authority lighting engineer. 

6(d)	 Is there adequate and safe play space for 
young children (Secondary)? 

All landlord owned play spaces for young children should 
be adequate and safe. “Toddler” areas should be 
designed so that it can be secured and to allow 
supervision from nearby dwellings with a safe route for 
users to come and go. 

6(e)	 Are there adequate, practical and maintainable 
communal areas (Secondary)? 

All landlord owned communal areas should be adequate,

practical and maintainable.


Boundaries between public and private space should be

clearly defined and open spaces should have features that

prevent unauthorised vehicular access.


Consideration should be given to the provision of

informal association areas for members of the community,

particularly youths.


6(f)	 Are dwellings clearly identifiable with 
definable boundaries (Secondary)? 

The dwelling should be clearly identifiable and with 
definable boundaries and there should be clear naming 
and numbering of dwellings to assist residents and the 
attendance of Emergency Services. 

Where it is possible, defensible space should be created to 
front gardens by clearly defining the boundaries between 
private and public space. 

The front boundary should be clearly defined, by hedge, 
wall or fence of no more than 1000mm in height unless 
planning regulations specify a lower level. 

Adequate rear boundaries such as hedge, wall or fencing 
should also be provided between adjacent rear gardens. 

Where risk is increased by boundaries being adjacent to 
open land, footpaths or areas such as railway property or 
canal tow paths additional features such as a trellis top or 
thorny shrubs should also be considered. 

26


Page 93



THE WELSH HOUSING QUALITY STANDARD 

7.6 
Boundary walls, bin and fuel stores, low flat roofs or 
balconies should be designed so as not to provide 
climbing aids to gain access into the property. 

The estate layout should provide each block (of flats or 
maisonettes etc) with a clearly defined defensible space 
and fencing where appropriate. 

6(g)	 Are utility services practically located and well 
identified (Secondary)? 

The dwelling should have utility services, which are 
practically located and well identified. 

To reduce opportunities for theft by bogus officials, utility 
meters should, where possible, be brought to the outside 
and front of the dwelling where they can be overlooked. 

Where possible utility meters in multi occupancy 
developments should be located on the ground floor 
between access controlled doors so that access can be 
restricted to the meters. 

6(h)	 Is there adequate and practically located car 
parking clearly visible to residents (Secondary)? 

The dwelling should have adequate and practically 
located car parking clearly visible to residents. 

In curtilage car parking should be provided where 
possible. However, where communal car parking areas are 
necessary, they should be in small groups, close and 
adjacent to the residents’ dwellings, preferably within the 
residents’ view and well lit. 

Where garages are provided the entrances should be 
orientated towards the front of dwellings where they can 
be easily observed. 

Where parking is designed to be adjacent to or between 
dwellings, a gable end window should be considered to 
allow residents an unrestricted view of their vehicles. 

T h e f o l l o w i n g p u b l i c a t i o n s a r e r e c o m m e n d e d a s 
s o u r c e s o f g o o d p r a c t i c e : 

P e o p l e , S t r e e t s a n d M o v e m e n t  C o m m u n i t i e s & 
L o c a l G o v e r n m e n t w w w. c o m m u n i t i e s . g o v. u k 

E s s e x D e s i g n G u i d e  E s s e x C o u n t y C o u n c i l 
w w w. e s s e x c c . g o v. u k 

T i m e f o r D e s i g n  E n g l i s h P a r t n e r s h i p s 
w w w. e n g l i s h p a r t n e r s h i p s . c o . u k 

M a k i n g P l a c e s  E n g l i s h P a r t n e r s h i p s 
w w w. e n g l i s h p a r t n e r s h i p s . c o . u k 

G o o d P r a c t i c e A d v i c e S i t e L a y o u t ( WA G ) 
w w w. w a l e s . g o v. u k 

TA N ( Wa l e s ) 1 2 D e s i g n ( WA G ) w w w. w a l e s . g o v. u k 

B e t t e r P l a c e s t o L i v e  ( C o m m u n i t i e s & L o c a l 
G o v e r n m e n t ) w w w. c o m m u n i t i e s . g o v. u k 

For good practice reference: useful resources on 
external design and layout 

27


Page 94



7.0 THE WELSH HOUSING QUALITY STANDARD 

7.7 
PART 7 

As far as possible, suit the specific 
requirements of the household 
(e.g. specific disabilities) 

The Standard 

The accommodation provided within the dwelling should, 
as far as possible, suit the needs of the household. 

The dwelling should provide sufficient space needed for 
everyday living and be appropriate for household 
numbers (Appendix 2) 

Dwellings should have rooms that can accommodate 
sufficient furniture and circulation space to meet the needs 
of the residents. Circulation space should not be reduced 
to the point where rooms are cramped and inconvenient. 

A lack of storage can impede upon the actual space 
dwellings provide for everyday living. 

Where existing dwellings are intended for residents with 
specific needs, they should, wherever possible, be 
improved so that the layout of the dwelling reflects 
current good practice. 

All necessary aids and adaptations to meet the specific 
requirements of any residents, including those with 
disabilities, should be provided. 

The quality of housing provided by landlords is not only 
affected by the dwelling itself, the area outside a dwelling 
is equally important. 

Minimum Requirement 

7(a)	 The dwelling should provide sufficient space for 
everyday living (Secondary). 

7(b)	 The dwelling should have enough storage both 
internally and externally (Secondary). 

7(c)	 The dwelling layout should meet the specific 
cultural needs of the tenants (Secondary). 

7(d)	 All necessary physical aids required by the residents 
should be provided (Secondary). 

7(e)	 Dwellings with a garden should have a directly 
accessible, reasonably sized level area (Secondary). 

7(f)	 The dwelling should have paved access to any 
garden gate and drying line (Secondary). 

Interpretation 

7(a)	 Is there sufficient space within the dwelling for 
every day living (Secondary)? 

The dwelling should provide sufficient space for Nominal 
Occupancy and every day living. Nominal Occupancy is 
determined by bedroom and living space floor area. Space 
for every day living is determined by the furniture 
requirements to suit this Nominal Occupancy. 

Appendix 1 provides landlords with an indication of how 
much nominal floor space is required for households in 
terms of bedrooms and living spaces. As shown, larger 
households require more living space. 

Whether a dwelling has sufficient space for its Nominal 
Occupancy is driven by its bedroom sizes e.g. a dwelling 
with three bedrooms, two doubles (over 10m 2 floor area) 
and one single (between 6m 2 and 10m 2), would be 
classified as a five person dwelling and would be expected 
to have a dining room of at least 7m 2 and a lounge of at 
least 16m 2 (see table on Nominal Occupancy). 

Where a dwelling has additional rooms (e.g. rooms in a 
converted loft) that are not being used as bedrooms, then 
the lounge and dining room sizes need only be sufficient 
for the actual occupancy of the dwelling. 

Landlords are advised to use the guidance relating to 
furniture layout for bedrooms, living rooms and dining 
rooms in conjunction with the table below to assess the 
appropriate occupancy level for each dwelling. 

It is recognised that sometimes individual rooms in an 
otherwise acceptable dwelling may fall just short of the 
standard required, and that to enlarge the room in 
question is not possible or cost effective. 

28


Page 95



In such cases some tolerance on the minimum circulation 
space requirements shown in Appendix 1 is acceptable 
(up to 100mm would normally be regarded as 
reasonable). Worked examples using this table can be 
found in Appendix 2. 

Landlords should also take into consideration the gender 
composition and relationship of residents when 
considering the sufficiency of space within a dwelling as 
laid out in the Bedroom Standard. The Bedroom Standard 
states that a separate bedroom is required for: 

� a married or cohabiting couple 

� an adult aged 21 years or more 

� a pair of adolescents aged 10 20 years of the same 
sex 

� a pair of children aged under 10 years regardless of sex 

Any unpaired person aged 10 20 years is paired, if 
possible, with a child under 10 years of the same sex or, if 
that is not possible, they require a separate bedroom. The 
same applies to any unpaired child aged under 10 years. 

This is then compared with the number of bedrooms 
available for the sole use of the household. Bedrooms 
converted to other uses are not included; bedrooms not in 
use are included unless they are unusable as a bedroom. 

Furniture sizes and circulation space requirements for 
living and dining rooms are shown in Appendix 1. These, 
together with the detail given below, can be used to test 
the suitability of existing rooms. 

Minimum furniture requirements are as follows. 

Living rooms 

� Adequate number of chairs/settees to seat the 
maximum nominal number of occupants. 

� Three small or two large storage units, one of which 
may be in the dining area (in single person dwellings, 
requirements reduces to two small or one large unit). 

� A television. 

THE WELSH HOUSING QUALITY STANDARD 

7.7 
Dining areas 

� A dining table and chairs to seat the maximum 
nominal number of occupants. 

It is emphasised, however, that these circulation space 
requirements are already modest, as is the amount of 
furniture allowed for. Circulation space should not be reduced 
to the point where rooms are cramped and inconvenient. 

Bedrooms 

One person bedrooms (bedroom size more than 6m² and 
less than 10m²): 

� a single bed and bedside table 

� a medium chest of drawers (this may be in an 
adjacent box room or on the landing if it does not 
impede circulation space) 

� a single wardrobe (free standing or built in) 

Two person bedrooms (Bedroom size more than 10m²): 

� a double bed or two single beds or a double bed and 
a bedside table 

� a large chest of drawers (this may be in an adjacent 
box room or on the landing if it does not impede 
circulation space) 

� a dressing table 

� one double or two single wardrobes (free standing or 
built in) 

7(b)	 Is internal and external general storage space 
adequate (Secondary)? 

The dwelling should provide adequate internal and 
external general storage space. All dwellings should have 
adequate and convenient internal and external storage 
which should include: 

� a tall cupboard suitable for storage of brooms etc. 

� high level shelving for storage of cleaning materials 
out of reach of small children 

� an airing cupboard (where applicable) 

� a robust and lockable external store, where 
appropriate 

29


Page 96





7.0 THE WELSH HOUSING QUALITY STANDARD 

7.7 
7(c)	 Does the dwelling layout meets the special 

cultural needs of the residents (Secondary)? 

The dwelling should meet the special cultural needs of 
the residents, where practicable. 

L a n d l o r d s s h o u l d c o n s i d e r t h a t i n m a n y B l a c k a n d 
M i n o r i t y E t h n i c ( B M E ) c o m m u n i t i e s t h e n o t i o n o f 
e x t e n d e d f a m i l i e s i s b a s e d o n c h i l d r e n r e m a i n i n g w i t h 
t h e i r p a r e n t s f o r t h e r e s t o f t h e i r l i v e s . T h i s w i l l 
r e q u i r e h o u s i n g p r o v i d e r s t o d e v e l o p d w e l l i n g s t h a t 
e n a b l e f a m i l i e s t o r e m a i n t o g e t h e r. I t s h o u l d b e 
n o t e d , h o w e v e r, t h a t i n s o m e c o m m u n i t i e s , t h e 
e x t e n d e d f a m i l y c o n c e p t i s d e c l i n i n g . C o n s u l t a t i o n 
w i t h B M E c o m m u n i t i e s i s e s s e n t i a l t o e n s u r e t h a t 
p r o p e r c o n s i d e r a t i o n i s g i v e n t o t r e n d s s u c h a s t h e s e . 

H o u s e d e s i g n i s r e l a t e d t o h o u s e h o l d n u m b e r s a n d 
a m e n i t i e s s u c h a s b a t h r o o m s a n d k i t c h e n f a c i l i t i e s 
c o m p l e m e n t t h e n u m b e r o f r e s i d e n t s . 

T h e f o l l o w i n g p u b l i c a t i o n s a r e r e c o m m e n d e d a s 
s o u r c e s o f g o o d p r a c t i c e : 

A c c o m m o d a t i n g D i v e r s i t y N H F / H o m e H o u s i n g Tr u s t 
w w w. h o u s i n g . o r g . u k 

Ta i P a w b ( H o u s i n g F o r E v e r y o n e )  Va r i o u s 
N e w s l e t t e r s . 

C h a r t e r e d I n s t i t u t e o f H o u s i n g ( C y m r u )  B M E 
H o u s i n g G o o d P r a c t i c e G u i d e w w w. c i h . o r g / c y m r u 

For good practice reference: meeting specific needs 

7(d)	 Does the dwelling have the necessary physical 
aids to suit the requirements of the residents 
(Secondary)? 

The dwelling should have the necessary physical 
adaptations to suit the professionally assessed 
requirements of the residents. Landlords should, therefore, 
consider the particular requirements of individuals and/or 
groups and where the existing dwelling falls short of their 
needs, look at possible remedies. Similarly, accessibility 
issues should be addressed when considering dwellings to 
be occupied by those with a mobility impairment. 

For good practice reference: flexibility and 
future proofing 

Whe re i t i s p ra ct i ca l and c o s t e ffe ct i ve to d o s o , 
c o n s i d e ra tion sho u ld b e g i v e n to i n c o r p o ra t i n g s o m e, o r 
al l , t h e Li f et i m e Home s S tanda rd s (L H S) into dw e l lin gs . 

T h e L H S s p e c i f i c a t i o n i s c o m p r i s e d o f 1 6 m a j o r 
s t a n d a r d s f o r i n c o r p o r a t i o n i n t o a h o m e i n o r d e r t o 
i n c r e a s e f l e x i b i l i t y, o f f e r t e n a n t s c h o i c e a n d i m p r o v e 
a c c e s s i b i l i t y. F o r f u r t h e r d e t a i l e d g u i d a n c e s e e : 
D e s i g n i n g L i f e t i m e H o m e s J o s e p h R o w n t r e e 
F o u n d a t i o n ; a n d M e e t i n g P a r t M a n d D e s i g n i n g 
L i f e t i m e H o m e s J o s e p h R o w n t r e e F o u n d a t i o n a t 
w w w. j r f . o r g . u k 

N e w d w e l l i n g s a re d e s i g n e d t o b e f l e x i b l e a n d 
a d a p t a b l e t o m e e t t h e c h a n g i n g n e e d s o f r e s i d e n t s . 
T h i s i s a m o re d i f f i c u l t g o a l t o a c h i e v e i n e x i s t i n g 
d w e l l i n g s d u e t o c o n s t r a i n t s i m p o s e d b y t h e s t r u c t u re . 

L a n d l o r d s s h o u l d h o w e v e r, w h e r e v e r i t i s p r a c t i c a l 
a n d c o s t e f f e c t i v e t o d o s o , t a k e e v e r y o p p o r t u n i t y t o 
i n c o r p o r a t e f e a t u r e s i n t o p r o j e c t s t h a t w i l l r e s u l t i n 
d w e l l i n g s t h a t a r e f l e x i b l e a n d c a p a b l e o f a d a p t a t i o n . 
F u r t h e r s o u r c e s o f i n f o r m a t i o n c a n b e f o u n d a t : 

� B u i l d i n g S i g h t R N I B w w w. r n i b . o r g . u k 

� W h e e l c h a i r D e s i g n G u i d e  N a t i o n a l W h e e l c h a i r 
H o u s i n g G r o u p N AT W H A G 

� G o o d L o o D e s i g n G u i d e ( f o r p u r c h a s e )  C e n t r e 
f o r A c c e s s i b l e E n v i r o n m e n t s ( C A E ) A p r i l 2 0 0 4 . 

7(e)	 Does the garden have a level area no smaller 
than 10m2 directly accessible from the dwelling 
(Secondary)? 

All dwellings with either a front or rear garden should 
have a level area of no less than 10m 2 that is directly 
accessible. 

An area is to be considered directly accessible if access to 
it can be gained without leaving the dwelling’s plot 
boundaries. Paths and steps may be considered an 
acceptable method of access. 

30


Page 97



THE WELSH HOUSING QUALITY STANDARD 

7.7 
7(f)	 Is there a paved access to the drying line and 

any garden gate (Secondary)? 

Where a dwelling has a garden that requires access from 
the front or rear boundary to an entrance door the access 
to them should be fully paved. Where a dwelling has a 
garden with an area with provision for a drying line, the 
access to this should be fully paved. 

T h e f o l l o w i n g p u b l i c a t i o n s a r e r e c o m m e n d e d a s 
s o u r c e s o f g o o d p r a c t i c e : 

B R E H o u s i n g D e s i g n H a n d b o o k B u i l d i n g R e s e a r c h 
E s t a b l i s h m e n t w w w. b r e . c o . u k 

S c h e m e D e v e l o p m e n t S t a n d a r d s H o u s i n g 
C o r p o r a t i o n w w w. h o u s i n g c o r p . g o v. u k 

S t a n d a r d s i n Q u a l i t y & D e v e l o p m e n t N a t i o n a l 
H o u s i n g F e d e r a t i o n w w w. h o u s i n g . o r g . u k 

D e v e l o p m e n t Q u a l i t y R e q u i r e m e n t s W e l s h A s s e m b l y 
G o v e r n m e n t w w w. w a l e s . g o v. u k 

For good practice reference: additional sources of 
information on design 

31


Page 98



8.0	 ASSESSMENT 

Assessment 8.0 
A dwelling will fail the Standard if any 
individual element is classified as a Fail. 

Each element of the Standard has been categorised as 
either a Primary or Secondary element. 

� A Primary element is one that impacts on the safety 
of the residents. 

� A Secondary element is more focussed around the 
comfort of the residents. 

Separation of elements into Primary and Secondary has 
been made to assist landlords to prioritise improvements 
and help in the assessment process i.e. demonstrating the 
degree of progress towards meeting the Standard. 

Appendix 3 provides landlords with an assessment 
checklist as a quick reference point to assist in ensuring 
that all elements of the Standard have been considered. 

In all possible cases, landlords will assess elements as Pass, 
Fail or Not Applicable. In cases where this is not possible, it 
may be appropriate to employ the Acceptable Fail category. 

Use of Not Applicable relating to 
individual elements within the Standard 

It is important to remember that it will not be appropriate 
for every dwelling to be assessed on all elements within 
the Standard. For example: 

� a ground floor flat will not be assessed on the 
thickness of any loft insulation present 

� the presence of ‘a robust and lockable external store’ 
is not needed for dwellings without gardens 

� an external fire escape is not needed in a single storey 
dwelling 

� adequate fire alarms and equipment need only apply 
to common parts of dwellings 

The above examples highlight differences in the nature 
and purpose of the dwellings. Particular distinctions may 
be relevant between single household dwellings and 
dwellings of multipleoccupation such as sheltered 
housing schemes, as well as flats and houses. Thus, where 
appropriate, it may be necessary for some elements to be 
reported as Not Applicable. 

Use of Acceptable Fail relating to 
individual elements within the Standard 

An Acceptable Fail is only possible on individual elements 
and not the dwelling as a whole. An Acceptable Fail may 
only be used in one or a combination of the following 
situations: 

� cost of remedy 

� timing of remedy 

� residents’ choice 

� physical constraint 

In the main this classification should only apply to the 
assessment of Secondary elements. 

The technical steering group highlighted some practical 
examples (not exhaustive) of how these Acceptable Fails of 
an element might occur. 

For example: 

Cost and timing of remedy 

Element being assessed Part 7 (a)  Is there sufficient space 
within the dwelling for every day living? 

A landlord may deem it necessary to consider the cost 
effectiveness of some works such as undertaking structural 
changes to the property in order to enlarge living 
spaces/kitchen. It may be appropriate for the landlord 
‘postponing’ the achievement of this Secondary element 
work and reporting it as an Acceptable Fail until major 
investment is required for that property (i.e. where a 
Primary element would fail). 

Residents’ choice 

Element being assessed  Part 4 (d)  Is there a shower as 
well as a bath? 

A shower without a bath is acceptable where agreed with 
the resident e.g. sheltered and disabled accommodation. 

Any outstanding work required to convert an Acceptable 
Fail to a Pass must be undertaken prior to relet of the 
property. All cases of Acceptable Fail should be recorded 
by the landlord so that future works can be appropriately 
planned and budgeted. 

32 

Page 99



THE WELSH HOUSING QUALITY STANDARD 

Stock condition surveys 9.0 
This guidance provides advice on the 
process of undertaking stock condition 
surveys for social landlord managed 
housing stock. It is aimed at assisting 
social landlords to improve the longterm 
management of their housing stock. 

All social landlords should follow the themes and 
recommendations in this guidance. They can be 
summarised as below: 

Strategy 

A plan for undertaking a stock condition survey should 
form part of a comprehensive strategy for future planned 
maintenance. This should also be linked to any 
reinvestment, improvements and energy efficiency policies. 

Objectives 

Surveys should aim to provide an overall assessment of the 
condition of the stock. This can be achieved by using a 
representative sample of dwellings, including all associated 
external works. It is not necessary to survey 100% of the 
stock in order to achieve an overall assessment. 

Sampling 

A small pilot survey should be carried out on a 
representative sample of stock, as a means of validating 
the survey format, content, consistency between 
surveyors, and methodology. Void dwellings can be used 
for the pilot surveys as these provide an excellent 
opportunity for training and benchmarking different 
surveyors’ views on condition. The sample for the pilot 
survey should not need to be greater than 5% of the 
stock to be included in the main survey. 

The method of analysing the survey data should be 
checked at the pilot survey stage to ensure reports 
contain the required information. 

Rolling programme 

To maintain up to date information on stock condition, 
regular cycles of surveys should be undertaken. As a 
minimum, a statistically representative sample of all stock 
should be surveyed every five years. Alternatively, a five 
year rolling programme of surveys could be implemented, 
based on surveying a representative sample of 20% of 
the stock each year. 

Survey format 

The survey format should be designed to gather the 
minimum amount of information consistent with 
achieving the objectives. Although there are clear 
advantages in gathering the minimum necessary 
information, there may still be advantages in using the 
survey to gather additional information. 

Data capture 

Social Landlords will need to decide on the means of 
recording survey data. Generally data can be captured 
electronically on handheld machines or manually on 
paper proformas. Where electronic data capture is used it 
must be compatible with the data analysis software. 

Where external consultants use electronic data capture, 
their brief should include training of inhouse staff in its use. 

Resourcing 

The assessment of the resources needed has two aspects: 

i)	 the cost of carrying out the survey and processing 
survey data 

ii)	 the cost of carrying out urgent repairs discovered 
during the course of the survey 

33 

Page 100



9.0 STOCK CONDITION SURVEYS 

9.0 
Programme and monitoring 

A programme based on realistic timescales should be 
determined for each stage of the survey process. It is 
important that there is a regular flow of data analysis 
information to allow for checking of reports/results at 
early stages to avoid the risk of discovering that the 
information/reports provided at the end of the exercise 
are inappropriate or unsuitable. 

Data analysis 

Stock condition information should ideally be considered 
as part of an overall information management strategy, to 
provide key information that is consistent and useful 
across all departments. 

The use of computer software is essential in the analysis 
of condition survey data. The system chosen must be able 
to present information in report formats that allow their 
use as a planning tool in longterm forecasting. 

The data analysis software should provide a full set of 
reporting and querying facilities in order that specific 
information can be identified easily and costs broken 
down and reported in tabular form. The information 
should be able to be easily exported for use in financial 
and business plans. All reports should be capable of 
providing 30 year projections. 

Opportunities should be taken to gather data for other 
associated housing objectives such as the Management of 
Asbestos Regulations, Home Energy Conservation Act 
(HECA), and Energy Performance in Buildings Directive 
(EPBD). Some landlords may wish to adapt their stock 
condition survey to do this. Others may wish to undertake 
separate exercises if it is more appropriate and / or cost 
effective to do so. Also, some may wish to use the 
opportunity at reletting/void inspections to gather this 
information. 

Assessment against the Standard is likely to necessitate 
some internal inspection of dwellings. But good 
knowledge of the stock, sound past asset management 
practice and record keeping, plus a careful approach to 
sampling for statistical relevance, should mean that an 
internal inspection of every property is not needed. 
Sufficient data should be available to give a reasonably 
accurate picture of condition and the overall situation 
relative to the Standard. 

34 

Page 101



THE WELSH HOUSING QUALITY STANDARD 

Appendix 1 

Space Standard Layout Drawings A1 

35 

Page 102



APPENDIX 1 SPACE STANDARD LAYOUT DRAWINGS 

A1 

36 

Page 103



THE WELSH HOUSING QUALITY STANDARD 

A1 

37 

Page 104



APPENDIX 2 WORKED EXAMPLE OF DETERMINING NORMAL OCCUPANCY 

Appendix 2 

Worked example of determining 
Nominal Occupancy A2 

0 2 
6 10 2 

1 0 

1 3 
6 10 3 

1 1 

0 4


7
 12 1 2 4 

2 0 

0 5


7
 16 1 3 5 

2 1 

0 6 

1 4 
8 16 6 

2 2 

3 0 

0 7 

1 5 
9 16 7 

2 3 

3 1 

Notional Room size (m2) * may be combined with the kitchen lounge and dining may be combined 

Examples from the table above if a dwelling has: 

1.	 Dining room = 7.5m2 2. Dining room = 8m2 3. Lounge dinner = 21m2 

Lounge = 11.5m2 Lounge = 16m2 Single bedrooms = 2 

Single bedrooms = 0 Single bedrooms = 1 Double bedrooms = 1 

Double bedroom = 1 Double bedroom = 2 Nominal Occupancy = 4 

Nominal Occupancy = 2 Nominal Occupancy = 5 

Minimum sizes (m2) Number of bedrooms 
Nominal 
Occupancy 

Dining* Lounge 
Double 
(Min 10m2) 

Single (Min 6m2 , 
less than 10m2) 

38 

Page 105



THE WELSH HOUSING QUALITY STANDARD 

Appendix 3 

The Standard 
Assessment Checklist A3 
Element Primary/Secondary 

Part 1. In a good state of repair 

1 (a). Is the dwelling structurally stable and free from disrepair? P 

1 (b) Is the dwelling free from damp? P 

Part 2. Safe and secure 

2 (a) Is the staircase and balustrade safe? P 

2 (b) Is there adequate space for kitchen appliances? S 

2 (c) Is the work surface sufficient for safe food preparation? S 

2 (d) Is the cupboard storage convenient and adequate? S 

2 (e) Is the number of convenient power sockets in the kitchen sufficient? S 

2 (f) Is the flooring in the kitchen and bathroom safe and suitable for use? S 

2 (g) Is there an external fire escape? S 

2 (h) Are there adequate fire alarms and equipment? P 

2 (i) Do rooms used for sleeping have escape routes not passing through another room? S 

2 (j) Are mains powered smoke detectors on each floor? P 

2 (k) Are window locks without automatic locking action in rooms used for sleeping? S 

2 (l) Is the gas, solid fuel or oil service and safety certificate up to date, and have all heating 
installations and appliances been certified safe by an appropriately qualified person as 
required by law? P 

2 (m) Have electrical lighting and power installations been checked and certified safe by an 
appropriately qualified person? P 

2 (n) Do external doors and windows give a reasonable level of physical security? P 

2 (o) Is the rear garden easy to maintain, reasonably private, safe and suitable for young 
children to play in? P 

39 

Page 106



APPENDIX 3 CHECKLIST TO ELEMENTS OF THE STANDARD 

A3 
Element Primary/Secondary 

Part 3. Adequately heated, fuel efficient and well insulated 

3 (a) Is the heating system reasonably economical and capable of heating the dwelling to 
a reasonable level? P 

3 (b) Are external doors and windows adequately draught proofed? P 

3 (c) Is the living room separated from the main entrance door? S 

3 (d) Is the hot water tank effectively insulated? P 

3 (e) Is there adequate mechanical extract ventilation in the kitchen and bathroom? S 

Part 4. Contain uptodate kitchens and bathrooms 

4 (a) Is the kitchen 15 years old or less, unless in good condition? P 

4 (b) Are there adequate facilities for washing, drying and airing clothes? S 

4 (c) Are the bathroom and WC facilities 25 years old or less, unless in good condition? P 

4 (d) Is there a shower as well as a bath? P 

Part 5. Well managed (for rented housing) 

5 (a) Is the dwelling fairly, efficiently and well managed? Not Assessed 

Part 6. Located in attractive and safe environments 

6 (a) Are roads and footpaths accessible, providing safety for residents, pedestrians and children? S 

6 (b) Is there soft and hard landscaping with planting in protected areas? S 

6 (c) Is there adequate street lighting? S 

6 (d) Is there adequate and safe play space for young children? S 

6 (e) Are there adequate, practical and maintainable communal areas? S 

6 (f) Are dwellings clearly identifiable with definable boundaries? S 

6 (g) Are utility services practically located and well identified? S 

6 (h) Is there adequate and practically located car parking clearly visible to residents? S 

40 

Page 107



THE WELSH HOUSING QUALITY STANDARD 

A3 
Element Primary/Secondary 

Part 7. As far as possible, suit the specific requirements of the household (e.g. specific disabilities) 

7 (a) Is there sufficient space within the dwelling for every day living? S 

7 (b) Is internal and external general storage space adequate? S 

7 (c) Does the dwelling layout meet the special cultural needs of the residents? S 

7 (d) Does the dwelling have the necessary physical aids to suit the requirements of the residents? S 

7 (e) Is there a level area no smaller than 10m2 directly accessible from the dwelling? S 

7 (f) Is there a paved access to the drying line and any garden gate? S 

41 

Page 108



NOTES 

Notes


42


Page 109



HouseMark 
8 Riley Court 
Millburn Hill Road 
University of Warwick 
Science Park 
Coventry 
CV4 7HP 

T: 024 7646 0500 
F: 024 7646 0093 
www.housemark.co.uk 

Welsh Assembly 
Government 
Cathays Park 
Cardiff 
CF10 3NQ 

T: 0845 010 3300 
(English) 
T: 0845 010 4400 
(Welsh) 
www.wales.gov.uk 

Page 110



COMMUNITY & ENTERPRISE OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Date of Meeting Wednesday, 26th September 2018

Report Subject Forward Work Programme

Cabinet Member N / A

Report Author Community & Enterprise Overview & Scrutiny Facilitator

Type of Report Operational

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Overview & Scrutiny presents a unique opportunity for Members to determine the 
Forward Work programme of the Committee of which they are Members.  By 
reviewing and prioritising the Forward Work Programme Members are able to 
ensure it is Member-led and includes the right issues.  A copy of the Forward Work 
Programme is attached at Appendix 1 for Members’ consideration which has been 
updated following the last meeting.

The Committee is asked to consider, and amend where necessary, the Forward 
Work Programme for the Community & Enterprise Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee.

RECOMMENDATION

1 That the Committee considers the draft Forward Work Programme and 
approve/amend as necessary.

2 That the Facilitator, in consultation with the Chair of the Committee be 
authorised to vary the Forward Work Programme between meetings, as 
the need arises. 

Page 111

Agenda Item 6



REPORT DETAILS

1.00 EXPLAINING THE FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME

1.01 Items feed into a Committee’s Forward Work Programme from a number 
of sources.  Members can suggest topics for review by Overview & 
Scrutiny Committees, members of the public can suggest topics, items can 
be referred by the Cabinet for consultation purposes, or by County Council 
or Chief Officers.  Other possible items are identified from the Cabinet 
Work Programme and the Improvement Plan.

1.02 In identifying topics for future consideration, it is useful for a ‘test of 
significance’ to be applied.  This can be achieved by asking a range of 
questions as follows:

1. Will the review contribute to the Council’s priorities and/or objectives?
2. Is it an area of major change or risk?
3. Are there issues of concern in performance?
4. Is there new Government guidance of legislation?
5. Is it prompted by the work carried out by Regulators/Internal Audit?

2.00 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

2.01 None as a result of this report.

3.00 CONSULTATIONS REQUIRED / CARRIED OUT

3.01 Publication of this report constitutes consultation.

4.00 RISK MANAGEMENT

4.01 None as a result of this report.

5.00 APPENDICES

5.01 Appendix 1 – Current Forward Work Programme

6.00 LIST OF ACCESSIBLE BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

6.01 None.

Contact Officer: Ceri Shotton
Overview & Scrutiny Facilitator

Telephone: 01352 702305
E-mail: ceri.shotton@flintshire.gov.uk

Page 112

mailto:ceri.shotton@flintshire.gov.uk


7.00 GLOSSARY OF TERMS

7.01 Improvement Plan: the document which sets out the annual priorities of 
the Council. It is a requirement of the Local Government (Wales) Measure 
2009 to set Improvement Objectives and publish an Improvement Plan.

Page 113



This page is intentionally left blank



COMMUNITY & ENTERPRISE OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME                            Appendix 1

CURRENT FWP

Date of meeting Subject Purpose of Report Scrutiny Focus Report Author Submission 
Deadline

Wednesday 7th 
November 2018
10.00 am

Quarter 1 and 2 Council 
Plan 2018/19 Monitoring 
Report

Housing Strategy

Welfare Reform Update 
– Universal Credit Roll 
Out

To enable Members to fulfil their 
role in relation to performance 
monitoring

To consider the Housing 
Strategy

To provide an update on the 
impact of Welfare Reform on 
Flintshire residents

Assurance Monitoring

Consultation

Assurance Monitoring

Overview & Scrutiny 
Facilitator

Housing Strategy 
Manager

Benefits Manager

Wednesday 19th 
December 2018
10.00 am

New Homes Board To receive an update on the 
work of the New Homes Board

Assurance/Monitoring Housing Strategy 
Manager

Wednesday 23rd 
January 2019
10.00 am

P
age 115



COMMUNITY & ENTERPRISE OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME                            Appendix 1

Wednesday 13th 
March 2019
10.00 am

Quarter 3 Council Plan 
2018/19 Monitoring 
Report

Welfare Reform Update 
– Universal Credit Roll 
Out

To enable Members to fulfil their 
role in relation to performance 
monitoring

To provide an update on the 
impact of Welfare Reform on 
Flintshire residents

Assurance Monitoring

Assurance/Monitoring

Overview & Scrutiny 
Facilitator

Benefits Manager

Wednesday 1st 
May 2019
10.00 am

Update Report – 
Disabled Facilities 
Grant Internal Audit 
Report 2017

To provide a six month update 
on progress in relation to the 
service control action plan

Wednesday 26th 
June 2019
10.00 am

Quarter 4/Year-end 
Council Plan 2018/19 
Monitoring Report

To enable Members to fulfil their 
role in relation to performance 
monitoring

Assurance Monitoring Overview & Scrutiny 
Facilitator

Items to be scheduled to a date

 Work to address economic inactivity and support entrepreneurship
 Update on private sector housing renewal strategy
 Update report on stairwell at Castle Heights Flint – as suggested during the 20th September meeting
 Smart Metres – as suggested during the 16th October meeting.
 Rent Arrears Internal Audit Report and Action Plan

P
age 116



COMMUNITY & ENTERPRISE OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME                            Appendix 1

REGULAR ITEMS

Month Item Purpose of Report Responsible / Contact 
Officer

Quarterly / 
Annual

Performance Reporting To consider performance outturns for improvement targets 
against directorate indicators.

Chief Officer (Community 
and Enterprise)

Six monthly Welfare Reform Update – 
including Universal Credit

To update Members on the impact of Welfare Reform and the 
cost to the Council.

Chief Officer (Community 
and Enterprise)

Six monthly Update on North East Wales 
Homes & Property Management

To update Members on the work of the North East Wales 
Homes & Property Management 

Chief Officer (Community 
and Enterprise)

P
age 117



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes 17.07.2018

	4 Single Access Route to Housing (SARTH)
	Appendix One: Single Access Route to Housing Policy 2018

	5 WHQS Capital Programme – Delivery Review Update
	Appendix 1 - WHQS Guidance Document 2008

	6 Forward Work Programme (Community & Enterprise)
	Appendix 1 – Current Forward Work Programme


